Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition as the driver of changing carcinoma and glioblastoma microenvironment



Bernarda Majc, Tilen Sever, Miki Zarić, Barbara Breznik, Boris Turk, Tamara T. Lah

PII:	S0167-4889(20)30140-3
DOI:	https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2020.118782
Reference:	BBAMCR 118782
To appear in:	BBA - Molecular Cell Research
Received date:	5 February 2020
Revised date:	5 June 2020
Accepted date:	7 June 2020

Please cite this article as: B. Majc, T. Sever, M. Zarić, et al., Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition as the driver of changing carcinoma and glioblastoma microenvironment, *BBA* - *Molecular Cell Research* (2020), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamcr.2020.118782

This is a PDF file of an article that has undergone enhancements after acceptance, such as the addition of a cover page and metadata, and formatting for readability, but it is not yet the definitive version of record. This version will undergo additional copyediting, typesetting and review before it is published in its final form, but we are providing this version to give early visibility of the article. Please note that, during the production process, errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

© 2020 Published by Elsevier.

Epithelial-to-Mesenchymal Transition as the Driver of Changing Carcinoma and Glioblastoma Microenvironment

Bernarda Majc^{1,2} Tilen Sever^{2,3}, Miki Zarić^{2,3}, Barbara Breznik¹, Boris Turk^{3,4,5} and Tamara T Lah^{1,2,4}

- 1. Department of Genetic Toxicology and Cancer Biology, National Institute of Biology, Večna pot 111, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia;
- 2. Jožef Stefan International Postgraduate School, Jamova cesta 39, 1000, Ljubljana, Slovenia;
- 3. Department of Biochemistry, Molecular and Structural Biology, Josef Stefan Institute, Jamova cesta 39, 1000, Ljubljana, Slovenia;
- 4. Faculty of Chemistry and Chemical Technology, Večna pot 113, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia.
- 5. Institute of Regenerative Medicine, I.M. Sechenov First Moscow State Medical University, Bol'shaya Pirogovskaya Ulitsa, 19c1, Moscow, Russia, 119146

Corresponding

Tamara Lah Turnšek. National Institute of Biology, Večna pot 111, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia E-Mail: Tamara.Lah@nib.si; Tel: 00386-59232-703; Mobile: 00386-41-651-629.

Abbreviations: CSCs, cancer stem cells; ECM, extracellular matrix; EMT, epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition; GB, glioblastoma; GSCs, glioblastoma stem cells; MSCs, mesenchymal stem cells; TFs, transcription factors

Keywords: Carcinomas, Cancer stem cells, Invasion, Proteases, Tumour microenvironment

Abstract

Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is an essential molecular and cellular process that is part of normal embryogenesis and wound healing, and also has a ubiquitous role in various types of carcinoma and glioblastoma. EMT is activated and regulated by specific microenvironmental endogenous triggers and a complex network of signalling pathways. These mostly include epigenetic events that affect protein translation-controlling factors and proteases, altogether orchestrated by the switching on and off of oncogenes and tumour-suppressor genes in cancer cells. The hallmark of cancer-linked EMT is that the process is incomplete, as it is opposed by the reverse process of mesenchymal-to-epithelial transition, which results in a hybrid epithelial/ mesenchymal phenotype that shows notable cell plasticity. This is a characteristic of cancer stem cells (CSCs), and it is of the utmost importance in their niche microenvironment, where it governs CSC migratory and invasive properties, thereby creating metastatic CSCs. These cells have high resistance to therapeutic treatments, in particular in glioblastoma.

Contents

1. Introduction

2. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition as a key process in carcinomas

- 2.1 Cancer invasion in the metastatic tumour microenvironment
 - 2.1.1 Molecular EMT triggers and inhibitors
 - 2.1.2 The roles of cell stemness markers and EMT signalling pathways
 - 2.1.3 Molecular basis of EMT-enhanced cell invasion
- 2.2 The decisive role of the tumour microenvironment in EMT

3. Cancer stem cell plasticity and metastasis formation

- 3.1 EMT in metastasis formation
- 3.2 The glioblastoma stem cell niche microenvironment

4. Clinical applications: diagnosis and reprogramming EMT in cancer-cell targeting

- 4.1 Therapeutic resistance
- 4.2 Anti-EMT therapies
- 5. Conclusions

References

1. Introduction

The epithelium is one of the basic tissue types in animals and it consists of one or more layers of differentiated cells that are attached to the basement membrane *via* hemidesmosomes. Epithelial cells show static apical–basal polarity and are connected to each other laterally through tight gaps, adherens junctions and desmosomes. Certain triggers associated with more complex processes, such as ontogenesis, tissue regeneration and cancers, can induce epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT). This is a programme that results in morphological and functional transformation of the epithelial phenotype. In cancers, this programme imparts heritable phenotypic changes to carcinoma cells through epigenetic modifications, without introducing new genetic alterations. In this way, epithelial cells lose their apical–basal orientation and switch to a more migratory, spindle-like shape, with front–rear cell polarization.

Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition is a reversible cell programme, and the mesenchymal phenotype that results can regain epithelial cell characteristics in the process termed mesenchymalto-epithelial transition (MET). The connections among cells break up when they progress towards the mesenchymal state, and the basement membrane and cytoskeleton become reorganised. As well as a greater migratory ability, mesenchymal traits include enhanced cell invasion, which involves the degradation of their own extracellular matrix (ECM) with ECM-degrading enzymes, in addition to acquired resistance to apoptosis. This whole process is triggered epigenetically and controlled by EMT-inducing transcriptional factors (EMT-TFs) that act in different combinations, and result in altered expression of the genes that control cell transition [1–3]. Epithelial cells initially express proteins that help to maintain their typical polarity, with the most representative being cadherin (Ecadherin) and some other epithelial cell adhesion proteins, such as occludins, claudins, various βintegrins and cytokeratins, which are required for the structural integrity of epithelial tissues. These are generally down-regulated in the mesenchymal cell type due to epigenetically modified expression of selective TFs of ZEB, SNAIL, SLUG and the TWIST family, which induces silencing through hypermethylation and histone deacetylation [4]. On the other hand, these TFs enhance the expression of genes associated with the mesenchymal state, such as N-cadherin, vimentin, fibronectin and the β integrins, as well as the ECM-degrading proteases [5].

However, not all these molecules are involved in a particular epithelial or mesenchymal cell type. Molecular variations in EMT have been observed in normal and cancerous cells. Moreover, epigenetic cues are not only activated endogenously, but more commonly they originate from the cell microenvironment, which might induce EMT-TFs in various combinations in an epithelial cell. Thus, EMT should be understood only in terms of the principle that cell phenotypes can constantly, and even reversibly, change. Even if the resulting phenotypes have a temporary existence, they drastically change their function as a result of cell–cell cross-talk in the altered tumour microenvironment. These complex communications are either juxtacrine or paracrine, and they are mediated by secreted chemokines and growth factors, gap-junctions, nanotubules or extracellular vesicles [6]. For example, cancer-derived exosomes have been shown to promote increased cellular aggressiveness, as increased cell motility, migration and invasion. Exosomes can function to concentrate proteins or RNA for signalling and transformation of nearby cells, by alteration of the tumour microenvironment as a so-called 'field effect' [7] and by pre-metastatic niche formation [8]. Cancer-cell-derived exosomes

have been demonstrated to induce EMT via the expression of mesenchymal markers in recipient cells, which contributes to the progression to a more aggressive phenotype [6]. Signals that trigger EMT in cancer come from the surrounding stroma as well as from the stromal conditions, such as low levels of oxygen, cytokines and growth factors secreted into the tumour microenvironment, alternations in metabolism of neoplastic cells, and even by anti-tumour drugs.

In addition to multiple possible pathways that govern EMT-like processes, the second emerging concept from numerous studies (reviewed by Roche *et al.* [9]; Jolly *et al.* [10]; Dongre and Weinberg [1]) is that the EMT programme can generate various stable phenotypic states along the epithelial–mesenchymal spectrum that have features of both epithelial and mesenchymal cells. Thus, EMT can be interrupted before completion, which will give rise to various intermediate hybrid epithelial and mesenchymal phenotypes without acquisition of the complete mesenchymal traits [11,12]. This might be due in part to the simultaneous occurrence of the reversible MET process, which will result in an equilibrium where the precise molecular context remains unknown. Such mixed populations of cells can migrate together in cohorts that can reach higher levels of aggressiveness than fully transitioned mesenchymal cells. As addressed by Dongre and Weinberg [1] in studies where certain EMT-TFs were experimentally expressed at high constitutive levels, complete EMT can be achieved, although this might be a rare case under physiological conditions in wound healing, and in some cases during carcinoma progression.

There are three types of EMT known. Type 1 EMT is crucial during early development of an organism, and it occurs early after fertilisation. It is is associated with early gastrulation, mesodermal development and endocardium morphogenesis, each of which has its own pattern of genetic control. Type 2 EMT relates to traumatic events like injuries and pathogen infections that lead to inflammation, which are mediated by inflammatory cells. Following tissue damage, fibroblasts and inflammatory cells infiltrate the tissue to establish homeostasis, accompanied by mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs). Type 3 EMT is associated with cancer progression, as described in this review.

2. Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition as a key process in carcinomas

2.1 Cancer invasion in the metastatic tumour microenvironment

Cancer cells emerge through the transformation of normal cells into neoplastic cells *via* two consecutive or simultaneous processes: initiation and promotion. These can result in clonal expansion and development of benign tumours, which can evolve progressively to a malignant state. Cancer cells acquire a succession of characteristics, which are termed the hallmarks of cancer [13]. These include sustained proliferative signalling, evasion of growth suppressors, resistance to cell death, replicative immortality, induction of angiogenesis, and activation of invasion and metastasis formation. At the molecular level, during their clonal expansion, tumour cells acquire inherent genetic modifications that increase the stability of their genome or chromosomes. Exogenous triggers provide mutual interactions of cancer cells with the local tumour microenvironment, which includes inflammatory conditions. Alternatively, these triggers result from systemic immune responses, which enable the overall spread of a cancer. The final stage is then metastasis formation, through dissemination of evolutionary selected clones, which then colonise distant anatomical sites. Contrary to the ongoing

search for patterns of genetic changes associated with each type of cancer, identification of the relatively small sets of up-regulated oncogenes and down-regulated tumour-suppressor genes has been shown to be the key switch for the expression of metastatic hallmarks [1]. Moreover, this suggests that the invasion-metastasis cascade is to a large extent initiated by epigenetic EMT programmes that have been recently recognised as essential, in particular for carcinomas that originate from epithelial cells. However, formation of micrometastases at secondary sites might not necessarily be followed by colonisation of the secondary organ, where the new tumour microenvironment will dictate the EMT/MET balance in the micrometastases.

Even more complexity is added to metastatic progression by the primary tumours that are comprised of multiple genetically distinct sub-clones. Metastatic cells that develop within these heterogeneous subsets of cells can evolve further into behaviourally and genetically distinct cell clusters [14]. Independent genetic evolution of metastatic clones is driven by the changing tumour microenvironment, particularly in the secondary organ, and it is therefore superimposed on the existing genetic heterogeneity of the primary cancer. The decisive selection of the most efficient seeding clone at the distant secondary site can be considered as Darwinian-like selection, where the tumour microenvironment in the metastatic niche has a crucial role. The relevance of the host organ tumour microenvironment in patients is shown by the metastases within any given secondary organ, as these are genetically more similar than metastases in other organs. This suggests the importance of adaptation of metastatic clones to the organ-specific microenvironment, which was reviewed by Lah et al. recently [15]. When invading cells reach their destination, they resemble the original epithelial carcinoma cells, although they do not have a mesenchymal appearance, as they reverse through MET at the secondary site, to remain there as silent metastases. To colonise the organ and metastasise (i.e. form metastases), cancer cells reverse EMT program via silencing of various EMT-TFs at secondary organ parenchyma, or could involve the active, still uncharacterized proteins that repress EMT-TF expression. This can then promote transition of the cells towards a more migratory state, and the consequent organ colonisation [16].

2.1.1 Molecular EMT triggers and inhibitors

Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition consists of a balance of a network of proteins, which include epithelial E-cadherin, mesenchymal N-cadherin, vimentin, cell cytoskeleton polarity complexes and proteases. This balance is affected by inputs from a variety of signalling pathways, including those of transforming growth factor β (TGF- β), receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), multiple p53 pathways and hypoxia-induced factor (HIF-1 α). These can induce the transcription of signalling that involves the immune- and inflammatory-related TF NF- κ B, such as Wnt and Notch (**Figure 1**). These pathways can be divided into two types in terms of their effects on a cell phenotype: they either induce migration and invasiveness, as the result of EMT, or they promote stemness characteristics. However, these two effects are not mutually exclusive.

The invasive phenotype is mainly enhanced by the following mediators/inducers of these pathways:

TGF- β is a member of a large family of proteins that have effects on cell differentiation and proliferation, and immune responses. TGF- β controls transcription by orchestrating non-coding RNAs, which depends on cell type and context [17]. EMT is mediated by TGF- β signalling through both canonical (SMAD dependent) and non-canonical (SMAD independent) pathways [18]. Binding of a

number of these TGF- β family protein ligands to their receptor type II (T β RII) leads to its dimerization with T β RI, followed by clustering of SMAD proteins in the nucleus, which then cooperate with other TFs (**Figure 1**). TGF- β signalling has also been suggested to have a crucial role in several features of cancer stem cells (CSCs) [19] (see section 3). In addition, TGF- β regulates EMT through binding micro (mi)R-200 and promoting the actions of long non-coding RNAs [1,10].

Micro RNAs such as the miR-200 family are involved as EMT modulators, while they can also target some stemness markers, including *SOX2* and *KLF4* [11]. Forte et al. [11] further stated that in stem cells and cancer cells, ZEB1 inversely modulates EMT by down-regulation of the miR-200 family, which induces stemness-related TFs. Reciprocally, the miR-200 family can regulate EMT through inhibition of *ZEB1* and *ZEB2*, two known E-cadherin repressors. Decreased miR-200c levels are associated with promotion of EMT and a concomitant increase in the abundance of mammary epithelial stem cells [20].

Membrane RTKs also have roles in EMT-induced cell invasion (Figure 1). Among these, the epidermal growth factor receptors (EGFRs) are most commonly activated in many types of cancers. EGF ligand homologues can bind to the EGFR extracellular domain to trigger a series of EMT-linked events, the most notable being activation of the PI3K/Akt, Ras–Raf–MEK–MAPK, JAK/STAT and MEK/ERK cancer-promoting signalling pathways. Also RTKs such as fibroblast growth factor receptor, platelet-derived growth factor receptor, keratinocyte growth factor receptor, hepatocyte growth factor receptor (cMET) and others, can activate EGFR indirectly or directly via cross-linked signalling regulation and expression of TFs, like ZEB1/2 and SNAIL1/2, E47 and TWIST [21,22] (Figure 1). Of note, the EGFR and platelet-derived growth factor receptor are highly expressed in glioblastoma (GB), and represent markers of GB subtypes with significantly different phenotypes [23].

Transcription factors ZEB1 and ZEB2 are among the most important TFs that drive EMT, and they show some overlapping effects [24]. They promote EMT by repression of the epithelial state and activation of the mesenchymal state. They act through regulation of the activity of histone deacetylases, histone methyltransferases, Polycomb and coREST. The cell phenotype is controlled in part by a ZEB/miR-200 double-negative loop: while miR-200 represses both *ZEB1* and *ZEB2*, in turn, they repress miR-200 transcription, thereby stabilizing the epithelial or mesenchymal equilibrium states [25]. Both ZEB1 and ZEB2 are also controlled by SNAIL and TWIST [26].

Transcription factors SNAIL1, SNAIL2 and SNAIL3 target genes that influence histone posttranslational modifications, thus repressing E-cadherin and inducing mesenchymal markers. Notch signalling enables and stabilizes *SNAIL* gene expression during HIF-1 α - induced hypoxia (see below) [10].

TWIST1 and TWIST2 bind to DNA through their basic/helix-loop-helix domain, which also mediates their oligomerization. Depending on the binding partners, the TWISTs can have vastly different effects. For instance, they can promote transcription of N-cadherin and repression of E-cadherin. TWIST can promote EMT *via* activation of the above-described TGF- β /SMAD cascade, and TWIST can in turn be activated by TGF- β signalling, as well as by Wnt, hypoxia (HIF-1 α), inflammatory signals, and some RTKs [26,27].

2.1.2 The roles of cell stemness markers and EMT signalling pathways

Four major signalling pathways have been demonstrated as common to normal stem cells and cancer cells; *i.e.*, the Notch, Wnt, Hedgehog and Bmp-1 pathways [13]. The first two of these have been more

commonly described in association with EMT, where they induce stemness characteristics in cancer cells.

The Notch group of signalling proteins comprises four transmembrane receptors that are bound by two types of ligands: Delta (DLL1, 3, 4) and/or Jagged (JAG1, 2), which are present on the neighbouring cells to cancer cells (**Figure 1**). Notch has an important role in embryogenesis-related EMT [1], whereas Notch signalling is enhanced in nearly all carcinomas [28]. Notch signalling can induce EMT and maintain stemness; however, our understanding of the different roles of these two sub-families of ligands of Notch signalling (*i.e.*, Delta, Jagged) is still incomplete in the context of EMT and cancer stemness [29]. A link to the 'EMT circuit' was defined by Jolly *et al.* [10], where the Notch intracellular domain can activate *SNAIL* to promote EMT when the cells are coupled to Jagged, but not to the Delta ligand. Due to this lateral induction mechanism observed in Notch–Jagged signalling, clusters of cancer cells that interact *via* Notch–Jagged signalling can mutually stabilise their 'metastable' phenotype, which is in an EMT–MET equilibrium state, to thus maintain high 'stemness' potential. Such cells have been seen to be more metastatic, with additional colonisation potential [28]. Jagged1 is thus emerging as a potential therapeutic target due its role in maintaining CSCs [30].

The Wnt family is a group of 19 glycoproteins in humans that can bind to the extracellular domain of the Frizzled receptors, a family of G-protein-coupled receptors (Figure 1). The Wnt proteins bind to Frizzled in cooperation with their co-receptors, which results in activation of the canonical Wnt/ β -catenin pathway or the non-canonical Wnt/Ca²⁺ pathway. Physiological Wnt-signalling-mediated EMT is required in embryonal neural development, cell differentiation, proliferation and motility, and wound healing. However, it is also important in several cancers [31].

Activation of Wnt signalling releases β -catenin, which then translocates into the nucleus to act as a transcription co-factor to induce expression of the TWIST, SNAIL and ZEB1 TFs. As mentioned above, β -catenin is also a component of adherens junctions that in the epithelial cell state binds all of the free cytosolic β -catenin. EMT-induced disruption of these junctions allows for β -catenin nuclear translocation and signalling. Independently, in pancreatic cancer cells, this β -catenin signalling has been shown to activate miR-300 and miR-136 [32], whereas miR-23a regulates canonical Wnt signalling in breast cancer cells [33].

Collectively, these various key players in EMT can be activated independently and/or in the above described pathways, to interact with each other at numerous points. These synergising EMT pathways are shown in **Figure 1**.

The core regulatory network for EMT/MET-like processes acts as a 'three-way switch', to give rise to three distinct phenotypes: the epithelial phenotype, the mesenchymal phenotype that results from completed EMT, and a hybrid E/M phenotype. This represents the theoretical framework to validate and understand the roles of the many players in the regulation of epithelial plasticity. To define this equilibrium, an 'EMT score' was constructed. Due to the EMT/MET balance, clones of the intermediate phenotype acquire the metastable phenotype with high plasticity, which defines the CSC characteristics (see section 3.). These clones can convert between each other, dependent upon the cues provided by the tumour microenvironment. Furthermore, we can highlight recent studies on the impact of partial EMT on cell migration and the formation of clusters of metastasising cells, which are also known as circulating tumour cells.

2.1.3 Molecular basis of EMT-enhanced cell invasion

It is not entirely clear how cancer cells gain their migratory phenotype, although we aim here to define the key players that lead to the increased cell invasiveness that we ascribe to EMT. Cell invasion comprises three major consecutive steps: detachment from the primary tumour; ECM degradation; and cell migration. First, the loss of homotypic cell adhesion in carcinomas requires down-regulation of E-cadherin in the cells. An extensive network of signalling pathways steers this process, which is initiated by selective TFs, such as SNAIL, ZEB, TWIST and E12/E47, which have important roles in the many steps to cancer progression, and in particular in cell invasion, dissemination and metastasis formation in the colonisation of secondary tissues [34]. In addition to some others, TFs like Brachyury, Goosecoid, SIX1 and PRRX1 can directly or indirectly repress E-cadherin, which is the hallmark of the epithelial phenotype [5]. As reviewed by Jolly and co-workers [10], these can be induced by epigenetic changes, silencing, post-translational modifications, alternative splicing and changes in chromatin. The epithelial phenotype corresponds to high levels of miR-200 and miR-34, whereas the mesenchymal phenotype corresponds to high levels of ZEB and SNAIL. These components form two interlinked mutually inhibitory feedback loops, as miR-34/SNAIL and miR-200/ZEB, such that other EMT-inducing signals from TGF-β, EGF, HGF, and Notch can activate ZEB and SNAIL, whereas p53 activates miR-200 and miR-34 [5]. In many carcinomas, these signals converge on the core EMT regulatory network, which is also referred to as the 'motor of cellular plasticity', due to its coupling with many other cellular processes as well as cell invasion, such as apoptosis, the cell cycle, metabolism and immunosuppression.

As indicated above, the initial event in epithelial cells upon triggering of EMT is the loss of plasma-membrane-associated E-cadherin. As well as being epigenetically down-regulated, the loss of this cell-cell homotypic adhesion protein is due to enhanced endocytosis and its subsequent degradation in lysosomes [18]. As a result, the co-transcription factor β -catenin is released and translocates to the nucleus, where it activates several downstream transcripts [35] that prevent the formation of adherens junctions. For example, due to the decreased expression of claudin, the relocation of occludins triggers the disruption of tight junctions, desmosomes and gap junctions, which together allows individual cells to detach from the primary tumour [36]. This is followed by polarisation of the cytoskeleton and the cytoplasmic organelles [37].

Completed EMT results in 'front-to-back' cell polarisation, with spindle-shaped cells with the morphology of the mesenchymal phenotype, where the leading edges of invadopodia adhere to the ECM, with the secretion of proteases that enable cell invasion through the loosened matrix. Depending on the ECM stiffness, migratory cells undergoing the process known as mesenchymal-to-ameboid transition acquire an amoeboid, rounded shape morphology to squeeze through the ECM without disrupting it [38]. The heterogeneity of cancer cell populations allows for movements of either single cells (as in glioblastoma) or clusters of cells (as in carcinomas). The latter arises because not all of the cells complete EMT to the mesenchymal shape, and many adherens junctions remain in the EMT/MET hybrid states, which results in cell clusters lead by those cells that have completed EMT. Such cellular formations and collective movements have many advantages through all of the stages of metastatic processes [10]. Collective migration in most partial EMT cases is mediated by SLUG or SNAIL2, as observed in experimental animals and also seen in human cancers [39].

The ECM is an active component in mediation of cell-cell communication [40], and cell

adhesion and/or movement, and since it has a highly dynamic structure, its components are constantly remodelled through hydrolases and proteases [41]. Proteases are essential to the migration mode of cancer cells, which actually respond to mechanical information about their ECM/ tumour microenvironment and convert this information into chemical responses, which is known as mechano-transduction [42]. The basement membrane encircles benign tumours and represents an extreme of ECM stiffness, as it presents a barrier against the migration of EMT-induced epithelial cells. One way to circumvent this problem is to switch to the ameboid cell shape through a switch from MET to mesenchymal-to-ameboid transition [10,38,43]. The second option is that mesenchymal cancer cells proliferate long enough to exert mechanical stress along the membrane, to ultimately cause its rupture by what is known as anchor cell invasion [44]. Finally, EMT induces proteases, which include various matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), ADAMs/ADAMTs and cathepsins [45], that are largely associated with invadopodia, and can act alone or in proteolytic cascades to facilitate cell invasion [46]. Elevated expression of various proteases, such as urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) [47], MMPs [48] and cathepsins [49-51] has been linked to multiple cancers and correlated to poor patient prognosis [52]. Proteases have multiple target substrates, which enables cell invasion through interconnected cascades of proteolytic events, which is termed protease signalling [53,54]. For example, cathepsin B was shown to activate MMP-1 and MMP-3, which can then degrade their substrates, such as collagen and gelatin [55]. MMP-1 can activate proteinase-activated receptors, which are G-protein-coupled receptors that can drive cancer cell migration and invasiveness when activated [56]. Cathepsins B and L can also activate uPA, to cleave plasminogen into a broad-spectrum serine protease that can selectively degrade the ECM and activate MMP2, MMP3, MMP9 and MMP4, further propagating cell invasion. Elevated expression of various proteases, such as ADAMs and ADAMTs, and of a disintegrin and metalloproteases regulates cell adhesion, migration and fusion, with shedding of the ectodomains of membrane proteins, such as uPA. In addition, cathepsins, and especially cathepsins S and L, have been reported to act as shedases, as they can cleave off the extracellular domains of several receptors, like the EGFR [57–59].

Proteases that are induced by EMT can also be localised intracellularly; *i.e.* in the nucleus, cytosol and lysosomes. MMP2 activates the binding of octamer-binding TF 4 (OCT4) to its promotor, which leads to increased cell invasion and migration. ADAM17 and protease γ-secretase cleavage of the cell surface protein Trop2 and the Notch receptor in cancer and stem cells are most important for cancer progression, whereas other substrate modifications include ADAM17-promoted self-renewal, cell proliferation, survival and migration, and angiogenesis [60]. ADAM12 appears to be involved in EMT through the regulation of cell–cell adhesion in the epithelium, by cleaving claudin-3, -4, -7, occludins and E-cadherin, and by mediation of the release of endogenous EGF-ligands that induce EGFR signalling [61,62].

Lysosomal cathepsins prefer acidic environments, which are found in tumours due to intratumour hypoxia-induced glycolysis, also known as the Warburg effect [63]. This acidic milieu kickstarts their activity under otherwise suboptimal physiological conditions in terms of the extracellular space. Cathepsins B and X are associated with EMT-related appearance of a mesenchymal-like phenotype of epithelial breast adenocarcinoma. It was also demonstrated that expression of cathepsin B relies on TGF- β 1, whereas cathepsin X expression appears to be independent of TGF- β 1 during EMT [64]. As well as its association with EMT, cathepsin X can cause a switch in the migration mode of tumour cells, from mesenchymal to ameboid-like.

Overexpression of cathepsin X in T lymphocytes promotes cytoskeletal rearrangements and morphological changes that are typical of MET, through the activation of $\beta 2$ integrin receptor lymphocyte function-associated antigen (LFA)-1 [65]. It can be noted that cathepsin L can have a dual role (i.e., suppression, oncogenesis), as its deficiency has been shown to promote tumour progression in mouse epidermis [66], whereas its nuclear activation in glioblastoma is essential to modulate the TFs that prevent cell apoptosis [67]. As proteolysis is an irreversible process, it has to be tightly regulated [45,54,68], ultimately by endogenous inhibitors [69,70], to preserve cell and tissue homeostasis [71]. However, cystatins might directly influence tumour progression via modulation of gene transcription, as has been described for cystatin E/M (reviewed by Breznik et al. [70]). This indicates that cystatins can interfere in signalling pathways, e.g., cystatin C and TGF- β , to influence the MAPK/ERK signalling pathway [72] and the 14-3-3 protein pathway [73]. Another example here is stefin B, which has been shown to protect tumour cells against apoptosis and oxidative stress [74]. Moreover, cystatins can promote tumour progression by impairing antitumour immune responses, as was shown for cystatin F, which is an inhibitor of the major granzyme convertases cathepsins C and H in cytotoxic granules of effector immune cells. Cystatin F can be secreted from tumour cells or other cells into the tumour microenvironment, from where it can be internalised by cytotoxic cells, and can consequently inhibit their cytotoxic activities against tumour cells [70,75]. Altogether, this complex synergistic or anergistic signalling (Figure 1) affects cancer cell EMT, whereby these cells acquire an intermediate epithelial-mesenchymal state.

2.2 The decisive role of the tumour microenvironment in EMT

Tumour heterogeneity has been recognised as one of the major obstacles to successful therapies, and it has both cancer-autonomous and cancer-nonautonomous origins. Cancer cell autonomous heterogeneity relates to genomic and epigenomic variations among cancer cells that accumulate during neoplastic cell evolution, to result in cancer stem cells [76] and to cause their plasticity [77]. Instead, cancer cell nonautonomous heterogeneity originates from the stromal component of the tumour, the tumour microenvironment. As has only been recognised over the past few years, this is closely related to the EMT-induced stemness characteristics of tumours, as reflected in the EMT–MET hybrid cell population(s) [10,78]. However, the EMT–MET balanced phenotype is affected by microenvironmental factors, such as the ECM and hypoxia, and is moderated by communication between cancer cells a n d non-cancer cells within the tumour; *e.g.* endothelial cells, infiltrating immune cells and other cell types [79].

The tumour microenvironment contains different clones of cancer cells, as well as various types of stromal cells, which together modulate tumour progression and responses to therapies. The standard therapeutic approaches of irradiation and chemotherapy can eliminate the bulk of tumour cells and induce genetic alterations in the remaining dormant cells. For example, in glioblastoma, where the cells that survive acquire stem-like characteristics that are fostered by irradiation-induced changes in the tumour microenvironment, these are suspected to recur as glioblastoma stem cells (GSCs) [19,80]. Communication between cancer cells and stromal cells through paracrine signalling loops or direct cell–cell contact can affect therapeutic outcomes and lead to more aggressive tumour growth, as has been reviewed for glioblastomas [81].

The EMT-signalling pathways can be triggered in an autocrine manner, which generally occurs

in oncogene/tumour suppressor-gene-transformed cancer cells, and in a paracrine/juxtracrine manner by the neighbouring cells, the 'stromal' cells, in the tumour microenvironment. The tumour microenvironment comprises local host-tissue stromal cells and infiltrating haematopoietic stem cells (HSCs), MSCs, and immune cells that secrete a wide variety of cytokines, chemokines and growth factors. Their mutual interactions were reviewed recently by Dongre and Weinberg [1], with several reviews in Cancers (2018), edited by Roche [9]. Superimposed on these, some systemic pathways (*i.e.*, hormonal and cellular infiltration from lymphatic and blood circulation) also have roles in the EMT–MET balance.

Not all stromal cells are associated with EMT of cancer cells. The suspects here are cancerassociated fibroblasts, CD4+ helper T cells, CD8+ cytotoxic T cells, regulatory T cells (T_{reg} cells), myeloid-derived suppressor cells and tumour-associated macrophages. Some examples were briefly summarized by Jing et al. [82], who indicated that cancer-associated fibroblasts can influence the onset of EMT epigenetically through DNA methylation, to favour the expression of EMT-linked genes in cancer cells. Tumour-associated macrophages produce TGF-β, which can trigger EMT either alone or in addition to tumour necrosis factor (TNF). Tumour-associated macrophages also release interleukin (IL)-6, which leads to activation of cyclooxygenase 2/ prostaglandin E2 (COX2/PGE2) and β-catenin signalling, which both promote EMT. The SNAIL TFs are known to promote inflammation by up-regulation of pro-inflammatory signals, such as IL-1, IL-6, IL-8 and IL-10, which maintain the inflammatory state in the cancer milieu. In response to tumour-associated macrophage secretion of EGF, tumour cells induce paracrine cross-talk that affects them in turn, and that causes tumourassociated macrophage transition to the active M2 state, which co-operates in metastasis formation. CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes repress E-cadherin in neighbouring cells while up-regulating ZEB1 and vimentin. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells accumulate at the front of a forming tumour, where they produce TGF-β, HGF and EGF, and activate COX2, thus triggering EMT in the surrounding cells, which can lead to metastasis formation [82].

Taken together, this complex intercellular cross-talk can create various types of gradients, from oxygen, nutrients and chemokines, to proteases and their antagonists. These gradients are balanced by the biophysical constraints of the ECM, whereby some, such as the basement membrane, are loosened, thus allowing metastatic spread via the systemic and local vasculature. Here, hypoxia and altered glucose metabolism due to the Warburg effect have very important roles [63]. Hypoxia can induce the TF HIF-1 α that promotes EMT through the induction of TWIST, SNAIL1 and ZEBs expression, which then leads to down-regulation of E-cadherin. Altogether, this complex synergistic and anergistic signalling (**Figure 1**) promotes cancer cell EMT, where they then acquire an intermediate epithelial–mesenchymal state.

3. Cancer stem cell plasticity and metastasis formation

An interesting concept is that EMT generates cancer cells, which appear to reside in an intermediate state along the epithelial–mesenchymal spectrum, as hybrid epithelial and/or mesenchymal phenotypes. It is unclear how many distinct combinations of stroma-derived cues are needed to stabilise these carcinoma cell states. Understanding the signalling events that are required to create and maintain this dynamic equilibrium among EMT-induced quasi-mesenchymal

states is still scarce. However, such 'cell plasticity' has also been described for CSCs, where they can express the stemness markers and undergo signalling similar to that described above for EMT. CSCs are a subpopulation of malignant cells within a tumour that have the ability to self-renew through symmetric cell division, and to differentiate into diverse cell types by asymmetric cell division. In a heterogenous tumour bulk, CSCs are the only subpopulation of cells that has tumourigenic potential, and also drug and irradiation resistance [45,76,80,83,84]. CSCs usually share many features with normal stem cells, such as their relative quiescence when located in their specific microenvironment, known as their 'niche'. While normal stem cells have low genetic stability, that of CSCs is high, and they show greater resistance to several therapeutic regimens compared to non-CSCs from the same tumour.

Increasing experimental observations have suggested that EMT is linked to stem-cell properties, with EMT identified as a critical regulator of CSCs [16,78,85,86]. Where CSCs appear and stabilise across the epithelial versus mesenchymal phenotype spectrum probably depends on the EMT-TF combinations involved in each type of cancer [1]. CSCs thus express a combination of epithelial and mesenchymal markers and traits, as they undergo only partial EMT and retain an intermediate state along the epithelial-mesenchymal spectrum. The current view is that stemness features are not simply associated with a more epithelial or more mesenchymal phenotype, but are intermediates in the so-called metastable EMT states [34], although with a tolerance to some cell plasticity [11]. As a consequence, CSCs can persist after anticancer therapies and can serve as the founders of the metastatic colonies that can lead to tumour relapse [78]. The coupling between EMT and stemness is finely regulated. Jia et al. [87] formulated a mathematical model to analyse the dynamics of the coupled decision-making circuits of EMT-ZEB/miR-200 and stemness-LIN28/let-7. This model suggested that the 'stemness window' most likely lies at an intermediate position along the EMT axis with the epithelial and mesenchymal phenotypes as the two ends, whereas the hybrid epithelial-mesenchymal phenotypes appear to be resilient to therapies such as chemotherapy, and to possess plasticity, all of which are closely related to stemness traits.

Experimental activation of EMT has been seen for overexpression of TWIST1 and SNAIL, or for treatments with TGF-β, which confers many of the properties of CSCs [85,88]. These include CSC-specific stemness marker expression, which as well as including the commonly recognised OCT4/2, SOX2, CD133, Notch, Musashi and Nestin, might also include the elevated CD44 and reduced CD24 glycoproteins, depending on the type of cancer. However, *in vitro*, all CSCs share greater ability to form spheres and organoids and to seed tumours of the same histology in mice, which represents *sine qua non* proof of their stemness. In addition, CSCs in EMT-like processes transform into highly migratory metastatic CSCs (mCSCs) that can establish new micrometastases at secondary organs [77,89]. Reciprocally, non-CSC cancer cells in tumours have been shown to dedifferentiate into CSCs [90], which highlights the plasticity and bidirectional interconversion between these two populations. This appears to be due to EMT-like processes, as CSCs in breast cancer, for example [88], have characteristics associated with cells that have undergone EMT [16].

3.1 EMT in metastasis formation

Visvader *et al.* [91] proposed that metastatic CSCs might exist and have properties distinct from primary CSCs. This concept that metastatic colonies at secondary sites originate from CSCs [1] indicates

that the EMT-like programme is not only needed for the initial steps in metastatic processes, but also to enable metastatic cells with CSC characteristics to adhere and home in on secondary sites. As the EMT programme imparts heritable phenotypic changes to carcinoma cells through epigenetic modifications without introducing new genetic alterations, the reverse process, MET, at the secondary site should restore the original CSC traits, to allow them to regrow the original tumours. However, these CSCs will be in a different microenvironment in terms of the metastatic niche in the secondary organ, which might prevent them from successful colonisation of another organ. In the secondary organ, the process might be halted in an intermediate EMT/MET state, which will result in slowly proliferating or dormant cells, arrested in G0/G1 phase, as indeed shown for micrometastases in metastatic niches [92]. These CSCs might then remain for a long time, until their proliferation is activated to colonise the secondary organ [93]. Inherent genetic and genomic instabilities in metastatic cells (i.e., CSCs) might lead to the evolution of cells that would finally be able to gain colonisation potential in any of the preferential secondary tissues [94]. EMT-like processes in dormant CSCs induced by activating signals from the new metastatic microenvironment will initiate mCSC clones that can colonise the secondary organ [15]. A large body of evidence indicates that dormant metastatic cells have the characteristic plasticity of CSCs (reviewed in [14,95]). The plasticity of resident metastatic cells due to the acquisition of the partial EMT/MET phenotype is thus an emerging concept [86,96]. However, the reversibility of these processes allows for co-existence of both types, as CSCs and mCSC, in metastatic niches [97]. Altogether, by manipulating the dormancy-regulating processes it might be possible to suppress the colonisation of disseminated metastatic tumour cells.

Research on the targeting of dormant metastatic cells is not only focused on dormant CSCs, but also on identification of the tumour tissue niches that promote CSC dormancy. However, the following unresolved question remains: does one mCSC type seek a niche that is similar to the primary tumour or a de-novo niche, to accommodate micrometastases. The metastatic stem cell niche microenvironment has a detrimental role in metastatic colonisation. Recently, Prager et al. [77] suggested a flexible model where CSCs pro-actively remodel their microenvironment to maintain a supportive niche where they can sustain their stemness characteristics. Examples of mutually supportive CSC/ niche interactions have been seen in the hypoxic niche, the immune niche, the perivascular niche and the CSC-infiltrating region [77]. However, these niche properties might also overlap, as shown on Figure 2. In the hypoxic niche [98], cancer cells induce signalling of the TF HIF and up-regulation of stemness markers, such as CD44 and Notch signalling. Further, several studies have proposed that hypoxia promotes a quiescence phenotype in CSCs, to facilitate resistance to therapies [99]. The perivascular niche is characterised by interactions with endothelial cells and components of the ECM, whereas CSCs, in turn, are drivers of vascularization via both stimulation of endogenous endothelial cells and vascular mimicry [100] and by transdifferentiation into pericytes. The stroma of these niches is composed of HSCs and MSCs and various types of their progenitors, and immune cells and fibroblasts in perpetual communication, mediated by cytokines, exosomes and gap junctions. Of note, metastatic niches in these distant organs can even evolve from a premetastatic niche if soluble messages are received from the primary metastatic cells [101]. In the light of the classic 'seed and soil' theory of cancer dissemination, the 'right soil' represents the metastatic stem cell niche [102]. These niches are not mutually exclusive, as has been described in detail for glioblastoma (see section 3.2.).

3.2 The glioblastoma stem cell niche microenvironment

Glioblastoma (GB) is the most aggressive and therapeutically non-responsive primary brain tumour in human [103]. GBs are of neuro-ectodermal origin [104], and appear to arise from astrocytes, which develop into secondary GB (WHO grade IV stage), whereas primary, or de- novo, GB appears without any earlier premalignant stage. Primary GB can arise through transdifferentiation of normal neural stem cells, or even by de-differentiation from neurons [105]. The standard-of-care treatments for GB include surgical resection, radiotherapy, chemotherapy and biological therapeutics, although these can at present only slightly enhance patient survival, presumably due to t h e therapeutic resistance of GSCs, and also to high GB heterogeneity and highly invasive intracranial and even metastatic GB spread [15]. Moreover, GB frequently shifts its biological features upon recurrence, to become more aggressive and invasive [80,106], as the phenotype that is associated with mesenchymal GB features [107]. Although of non-epithelial origin, EMT-like transition and mechanisms have been observed in GB and are associated with increased characteristic diffuse GB cell infiltration into the brain parenchyma, as well as with extreme resistance to conventional treatments [80,108,109]. The TFs involved in EMT-like processes in GB are similar to those in carcinomas; i.e., SNAIL1 and SNAIL2, ZEB1 and ZEB2 and TWIST [110,111]. Gene silencing of SNAIL reduces GB cell invasion, migration and proliferation [112], whereas ZEB1 and ZEB2 are correlated with the invasive phenotype, tumour grade, therapeutic resistance and poor survival of patients with GB [111]. In the central nervous system, the basement membrane only comprises the vascular walls [109], and the expression of E-cadherin in GB cells is relatively low, although it appears again in GSCs, and more so in aggressive mesenchymal GB cells [108]. In contrast, N-cadherin is highly expressed in astrocytes, where it regulates their polarity and migration, but it enhances GB cell migration [113]. The master EMTlike-signalling pathways in GB are the TGF- β and Wnt/ β -catenin pathways and signalling by specific TKRs [114], such as the EGFR, fibroblast growth factor receptor and platelet-derived growth factor receptor [23,115]. This increased expression of known mesenchymal markers includes vimentin, fibronectin, CD44 and collagen, as well as activated kinase receptor signalling [19,116]. TGF-β drives GB EMT activation through SMAD-dependent or SMAD-independent pathways [116]. Joseph and coworkers [19] showed that TGF- β induces a mesenchymal shift in GB cells through the concomitant increased expression of ZEB2, which results in morphological changes to GB cells due to increased collagen COL5A1 and fibronectin; TGF-ß signalling via SMAD2 increases GB cell invasion. The stemness-related canonical Wnt/β-catenin pathway is also activated in an EMT-like process in aggressive gliomas [117] and in the cells at the invasive edges of GB tumours, compared to the central GB regions [118]. Multiple Wnt/ β -catenin targets are then overexpressed in mesenchymal GB subpopulations, such as CD44, the TF Runx2, WNT-ligand receptor Frizzled-1 (FZD1) and Dickkopf-1 (DKK1) [118,119]. Hypoxia mediated through the HIF-1α–ZEB1 axis and the HGF/c-MET signalling pathway also promotes the mesenchymal shift and GB cell invasion [19]. This is of particular relevance for niche-associated GSCs (see below), which can activate several intracellular downstream signalling pathways to further promote EMT, such as the PI3K/AKT, RAS/MAPK and Wnt/ β -catenin pathways [12]. Similar to Wnt ligands, c-MET is also expressed in GSC populations and maintains the GSC phenotype, which is most relevant for GB/GSC radio-resistance [120]. Also, HGF7/c-MET signalling can induce the invasive properties of GSCs through direct activation of Wnt/ β -catenin signalling [12]. Taken together, the EMT-like processes in GB result in the invasive, mesenchymal GB/GSC phenotype,

although the signalling is less clear than in epithelial carcinomas.

Glioblastoma stem cells were among the first discovered and isolated CSCs [121] and have also been one of the most investigated. They contribute to GB tumour initiation [77,83,84,105,122] and therapeutic resistance, due to their active DNA damage response mechanisms [123] and high expression of the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters [124]. Furthermore, GSCs can evade the immune response [125,126]. GSCs are identified by markers, the main ones of which are CD133, CD15, SOX2, NANOG, OLIG2 and Nestin [121,127,128]. We have reported on a new selective GSC marker, tetraspanin CD9, that discriminates between GSCs and normal neural stem cells [129].

GSCs are mainly, although not exclusively, localised in specific niches that protect their dedifferentiated state and presumably protect them from therapeutic insults and immune cells [93,124,130]. Paracrine interactions with cancer-associated fibroblasts increases the cytokine-activated Wnt and Notch signalling pathways, which are both implicated in stem cell maintenance [93]. MSCs increase GSC proliferation [131], and maintain GSCs through the IL-6/gp130/STAT3 pathway [132]. Another reported pathway in GSCs is NF-kB, which is promoted by stromal MSC-derived SDF-1 α , IL-6 and IL-8 [133].

Morphologically and functionally, GSC niches are particularly distinct (Figure 2). We have recently demonstrated similarities between GSC and HSC niches in bone marrow, both of which contain MSCs and share the functional chemo-attractive proteins and their receptors [134,135]. We have shown that GSC niches are both peri-arteriolar and hypoxic, where CD133⁺ GSCs are localised adjacent to the tunica adventitia of a small subset of arterioles. These create hypoxic areas, as arterioles do not take part in oxygenation. So these hypoxic conditions can nourish the stemness of GSCs. Therefore, the hypoxic peri-arteriolar GSC niche is a logical explanation for this seemingly contradictory need for both hypoxic conditions and the presence of mature endothelial cells. MSCs, smooth muscle cells and other stromal cells release chemokines such as stromal derived factor- 1α (SDF-1α), osteopontin and CCL5, whereas GSCs express their receptors. Breaking this cytokinechemokine axis by activation of abundant cysteine cathepsins B, K and X in the niches [136] might represent a strategy to release and activate dormant GSCs from the niche, which would then differentiate into rapidly dividing progenitors that are more vulnerable to radiation [137] (Figure 3). Ongoing clinical trials aim to block the CXCR4 receptor to mobilize leukaemia stem cells out of the HSC niches, to sensitise them to chemotherapy [138] (ClinicalTrials.gov: NCT00512252). Similar treatment approaches need to be investigated clinically to improve GB therapies.

4. Clinical applications: diagnosis and reprogramming EMT in cancer-cell targeting

The transient and dynamic nature of EMT complicates its status as a tool for diagnosis and/or prognosis [139]. For diagnosis, it is crucial to identify genetic or protein EMT signatures that can be used to distinguish between the epithelial and mesenchymal phenotypes of cancer cells. For example, E-cadherin down-regulation is a diagnostic EMT hallmark, along with overexpression of N-cadherin, vimentin and other mesenchymal markers, which can thus provide insights into cancer progression

[140]. Immunohistochemical labelling for E-cadherin shows loss of expression in almost all lobular carcinomas tested *in situ*, although not in ductal breast carcinoma [141]. N-cadherin overexpression was also found in patients with lymph node metastasis in gastric tumours, who had poor prognosis [142]. Other molecular players in carcinomas that can be used for EMT validation are: β -catenin relocation to the cytoplasm or nucleus during progression of colorectal cancer [143]; and p120 catenin in the adherens junction is re-localised in breast tumours and other carcinosarcomas [144], including close to 500 human tumours collected from patients. In basal-like breast carcinosarcomas, the EMT markers vimentin, N-cadherin and cadherin-11 (which mediates Ca²⁺-dependent cell–cell adhesion) are up-regulated, whereas E-cadherin and several cytokeratins that are used for subtyping of carcinoma progression were reduced [144].

Visualization of EMT is another approach that might serve diagnostic or research purposes. Expression of mesenchymal-state-related proteins thereby offers an opportunity for EMT visualization by selective staining. Single-domain antibody fragments (*i.e.*, VHH antibodies) or nanobodies represent more effective alternatives to conventional antibodies due to their structural simplicity. These can be easily expressed in transfected cells and have an advantage over fluorescent fusion proteins, which can create serious artefacts [145,146]. Vimentin is an intermediate filament protein that is expressed in mesenchymal cells and also during metastatic progression in cancer cells undergoing EMT. It is concentrated at protrusions at the leading edge of migrating cells, and it has been successfully visualized in mammalian cells undergoing EMT after TGF- β induction. Specific nanobodies have been expressed and fused with green fluorescent protein (known as chromobodies) to visualize vimentin without any specific aggregation or changes in morphology [145]. Another nanoprobe successfully predicted the therapeutic effects of curcumin on tumour xenograft models in mice [147].

4.1 Therapeutic resistance

The above-described observations strongly suggest that the EMT programme and the CSC phenotype are closely associated, although they can also be uncoupled from one another under certain conditions *in vivo*. More investigations of the association and distinction between EMT and the CSC state are thus required to fully exploit the EMT–CSC link for therapeutic purposes. There appears to be great potential in targeting EMT as part of these therapeutic strategies, to reduce migration of cancer cells and metastasis formation. Even if this might not be completely effective on its own, efforts towards targeting EMT might help to at least a certain degree to re-sensitize resistant tumours to treatments. Additionally, targeting EMT with visualization probes would contribute to better understanding of this cellular programme, and help in predicting drug efficacies at the cellular level.

Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition has been linked with increased therapeutic resistance. EMT confers chemoresistance, radioresistance and resistance to immunotherapy. For chemoresistance, EMT is often associated with multidrug resistance phenotypes [148]. The first hint that EMT might be connected to drug resistance was obtained when specific antibodies against TGF- β (an EMT inducer) restored the drug sensitivity to alkylating compounds in mouse mammary carcinomas [149]. Cells undergoing EMT overexpressed the ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters, which can increase drug efflux and subsequently lower intracellular drug concentrations [148,150]. The link between overexpression of ABC transporters and EMT is further supported by the binding

sites on ABC transporter promotors for EMT-TFs, including TWIST and SNAIL [151]. SNAIL1 and SNAIL2 are involved in the acquisition of resistance to radiotherapy and paclitaxel in ovarian cancer cells. They also both participate in p53-mediated apoptosis through active repression of pro-apoptotic genes and indirect activation of the self-renewal programme through de-repression of promotors for self-renewal genes, which provides resistance to cellular stress caused by radiotherapy and chemotherapy [152].

Human and murine melanoma cells that were initially transduced with SNAIL showed typical EMT features and increased immunosuppression by induction of regulatory T-cells, which enforce negative regulation of other immune cells, and impair antigen-presenting dendritic cells. These effects were reported *in vitro* and *in vivo* in mouse models. SNAIL⁺ melanomas are resistant to dendritic-cell-based immunotherapies, whereas the same therapies are effective on SNAIL⁻ melanomas, which confirms the involvement of EMT in immunotherapy resistance. Moreover, when SNAIL-specific small-interfering RNAs were injected into tumours, they inhibited tumour growth and metastasis, and a renewed anti-tumour immune response was also observed, due to the increased infiltration of cytotoxic T lymphocytes, which overcame the tumour cell immunosuppression [153].

4.2 Anti-EMT therapies

Despite difficulties when it comes to targeting EMT with cancer therapies, there have been a few studies that have focused on investigations into treatments via the targeting of EMT. An integrin-linked kinase (ILK) involved in activation of the AKT pathway, which leads to EMT, was targeted with emodin (1,3,8-trihydroxy-6-methylantraquinone), which resulted in MET in ovarian cancer cells [154] and in reduced EMT in breast cancer cells, as they could not undergo downstream phosphorylation through t h e ILK/Gsk3/Snail2 and ILK/Akt/mTOR signalling pathways, respectively [155,156].

Cyclopamine is a steroidal alkaloid from the corn lily *Veratrum californicum* that can inhibit Hedgehog signalling in cells undergoing EMT. Aberrant Hedgehog signalling up-regulates SNAIL through Notch signalling and TGF- β 1, which then induces EMT and enhances cancer progression. The modified KAAD-cyclopamine (3-keto-N-(aminoethyl-aminocaproyl-dihydrocinnamoyl) cyclopamine) then showed 10-20-fold higher potency than the natural compound [157].

Metformin is already being used for reducing glucose levels in type II diabetes, and it has been shown to inhibit TGF- β -induced EMT, which was confirmed by prevention of E-cadherin down-regulation, and inhibition of increases in N-cadherin and vimentin. The mechanism here appears to involve miR30a, as its levels were up-regulated and it was also shown that miR30a targets SOX4, which is associated with EMT initiation [158,159]. Moreover, metformin was shown to decrease the dose of chemotherapy with doxorubicin to prolong tumour remission in mouse xenografts. It also prevented relapse when combined with paclitaxel and carboplatin [160].

Another promising approach is the use of RNA interference with miRNAs and agomiRs/ antagomiRs. In prostate cancer cells, miR-875-5p was reconstituted, while it is down-regulated in cancer cells and its levels correlate with those of E-cadherin. Through EGFR targeting, which has an established role in maintenance of EMT and DNA repair after radiotherapy, reconstitution of miR-875-5p led to re-sensitisation of prostate cancer cell lines and xenografts to radiotherapy. EGFR inhibition was probably the main culprit for ZEB1 down-regulation, which impairs homologous recombination-

dependent DNA repair [161]. In another study, inhibition of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor expression by an artificial miRNA resulted in reduced cell proliferation, increased apoptosis, and reduced cell migration and invasion in pancreatic cancer cell lines and a mouse xenograft model. In the mouse model, VEGF receptor silencing had synergistic effects with cisplatin chemotherapy [162]. In malignant melanoma cells, reinforced vaccine efficacy of B16F10/GPI-IL-21 was noted when administered with the short hairpin ZEB1 RNA (shZEB1) or miR-200c agomiR. Treatment with miR-200c agomiR resulted in ZEB1 silencing. Also, concurrent inhibition of EMT by RNA interference and application of a vaccine resulted in elicited anti-tumour immunity in B16F10- melanoma-bearing mice [163].

Drugs that target epigenetic regulation of EMT represent a potentially powerful approach that can be used alone or in combination with conventional therapies [164]. The pan-deacetylase inhibitor panobinostat might influence the differentiation status of human hepatocellular carcinoma cells in vitro and in vivo in a xenograft model. It increased the differentiation/epithelial markers and decreased the levels of the dedifferentiation/mesenchymal markers vimentin and sonic hedgehog homologue/patched (SHH/Ptc), parallel with prognostically favourable expression of β -catenin [165]. Sorafenib is already being used in clinical treatments [166], and it not only interferes with EMT via direct inhibition of targeted kinases, but it can also reverse changes in histone modifications that occur during EMT. Sorafenib caused the loss of active histone markers at promotors for TGF- β 1, SMAD2/3, SNAIL1 and SNAIL2 in human lung epithelial cells undergoing TGF-β1–induced EMT [169]. Mocetinostat is a histone deacetylase inhibitor that in pancreatic adenocarcinoma cells can reverse drug resistance and repress stemness properties through lowering ZEB1 expression and increasing miR-203 expression, which is inhibited by ZEB1 during EMT [167]. Selective inhibitors of lysosomal cysteine proteases, such as inhibitors of cathepsins B and X, have been shown to inhibit EMT-related tumour-cell migration and invasion [168,169]. Several selective cathepsin B inhibitors have already been tested in different preclinical tumour models, and been shown to inhibit cell migration, ECM degradation and invasion of tumour cells in vitro, as well as tumour growth in mice [168].

5. Conclusions

Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition is an essential molecular and cellular process in normal embryogenesis and wound healing, although it also has adverse consequences for the outcomes of cancers. In malignant progression, many different signalling pathways activate and regulate EMT, where the mainly irreversible oncogenic transformations are superimposed on reversible epigenetic transitions. These latter can affect transcription- and translation-controlling factors, as has been shown mainly in carcinomas. EMT appears to proceed in several molecular and cellular steps, to gradually change the phenotype, although it appears that in all of the steps, it is opposed by the potential reverse MET process. In cancers, the EMT–MET balance generally does not go to completion. This results in a hybrid epithelial/mesenchymal phenotype that contributes to the so called 'epigenetic heterogeneity' observed among carcinoma cells. The major outcome of EMT is related to increased cancer cell invasiveness, and is associated with homotypic cell-cell detachment, ECM degradation by induced proteases, and cell migration. Another phenotypic change that have so far only been seen upon EMT in cancer cells is a gain in stemness characteristics. The metastable hybrid EMT–MET

phenotypes express high levels of stemness markers, which are known to also appear in CSCs. These provide CSC characteristics, such as therapy resistance and asymmetric divisions, as well as variable degrees of cell plasticity. The EMT–MET balance also has a crucial role in the stop-and-go of metastatic cell populations that evolve from primary dormant CSCs.

The tumour microenvironment has a decisive impact on both protection of CSCs/mCSCs homing in on their niches and on the selection of metastatic cell subpopulations, even in the last step of colonisation of a secondary organ. The coexistence of diverse microenvironments throughout solid tumour progression generates and selects for heterogeneity within the CSC population, represented by clusters of metastable EMT–MET hybrids. Furthermore, CSCs sustain the niche environment and represent the pool from which metastatic cells are selected to metastasise in a secondary organ. There again the plasticity of the hybrid EMT–MET phenotypes allows them to invade and settle as micrometastases, although in a new metastatic niche microenvironment. Finally, a role for EMT in organ colonisation, *i.e.*, regrowth into a secondary tumour, is suspected, although not fully understood yet.

In this review, we also detailed the above-described phenomena for progression of the nonepithelial cancer, glioblastoma, with emphasis on the importance of EMT in GSC biology. GSC niches are among the most investigated, where we recently suggested close similarity to the haematopoietic niche, and defined the cellular mechanisms of homing into the hypoxic/perivascular niches.

These concepts have clinical applications for EMT-related diagnostic markers, their imaging, and targeting for cancer treatments. New pharmacological approaches in multi-targeted cancer therapies through the reprogramming of EMT–MET were also discussed.

Acknowledgements:

This work was supported by the Slovenian Research Agency (Program Grants P1-0245 to T.T.L., P1-140 to B.T. and Postdoctoral Grant (Z3-1870 to B.B.) and three PhD Fellowships to PhD students B.M, T.S. and M.Z. through the Slovenian Research Agency Young Researchers Programme. We acknowledge the European Program of Cross-Border Cooperation for Slovenia-Italy Interreg TRANS-GLIOMA (to T.T.L.). The graphic images were created using illustrations from https://www.biorender.com.

References

- [1] A. Dongre, R.A. Weinberg, New insights into the mechanisms of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and implications for cancer, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 20 (2019) 69–84. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41580-018-0080-4.
- R. Kalluri, R.A. Weinberg, The basics of epithelial-mesenchymal transition, J. Clin. Invest. 119 (2009) 1420–1428. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI39104.
- D.S. Micalizzi, S.M. Farabaugh, H.L. Ford, Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cancer: Parallels between normal development and tumor progression, J. Mammary Gland Biol. Neoplasia. 15 (2010) 117–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10911-010-9178-9.
- [4] N. Herranz, D. Pasini, V.M. Díaz, C. Francí, A. Gutierrez, N. Dave, M. Escrivà, I. Hernandez-Muñoz, L. Di Croce, K. Helin, A. García de Herreros, S. Peiró, Polycomb complex 2 is required for E-cadherin repression by the Snail1 transcription factor, Mol. Cell. Biol. 28 (2008) 4772– 4781. https://doi.org/10.1128/mcb.00323-08.
- [5] B. De Craene, G. Berx, Regulatory networks defining EMT during cancer initiation and progression., Nat. Rev. Cancer. 13 (2013) 97–110. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3447.
- [6] R.H. Blackwell, K.E. Foreman, G.N. Gupta, The role of cancer-derived exosomes in tumorigenicity & epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, Cancers (Basel). 9 (2017) 12–17. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers9080105.
- [7] H. Chai, R.E. Brown, Review: Field effect in cancer-an update, Ann. Clin. Lab. Sci. (2009).
- [8] B. Costa-Silva, N.M. Aiello, A.J. Ocean, S. Singh, H. Zhang, B.K. Thakur, A. Becker, A. Hoshino, M.T. Mark, H. Molina, J. Xiang, T. Zhang, T.M. Theilen, G. García-Santos, C. Williams, Y. Ararso, Y. Huang, G. Rodrigues, T.L. Shen, K.J. Labori, I.M.B. Lothe, E.H. Kure, J. Hernandez, A. Doussot, S.H. Ebbesen, P.M. Grandgenett, M.A. Hollingsworth, M. Jain, K. Mallya, S.K. Batra, W.R. Jarnagin, R.E. Schwartz, I. Matei, H. Peinado, B.Z. Stanger, J. Bromberg, D. Lyden, Pancreatic cancer exosomes initiate pre-metastatic niche formation in the liver, Nat. Cell Biol. (2015). https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb3169.
- [9] J. Roche, The epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in cancer, Cancers (Basel). 10 (2018) 9–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers10020052.
- [10] M.K. Jolly, M. Boareto, B. Huang, D. Jia, M. Lu, J.N. Onuchic, H. Levine, E. Ben-Jacob, Implications of the hybrid epithelial/mesenchymal phenotype in metastasis, Front. Oncol. 5 (2015) 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2015.00155.
- [11] E. Forte, I. Chimenti, P. Rosa, F. Angelini, F. Pagano, A. Calogero, A. Giacomello, E. Messina, EMT/MET at the crossroad of stemness, regeneration and oncogenesis: The Ying-Yang equilibrium recapitulated in cell spheroids, Cancers (Basel). 9 (2017) 1–15. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers9080098.
- [12] J.K. Lee, K.M. Joo, J. Lee, Y. Yoon, D.H. Nam, Targeting the epithelial to mesenchymal transition in glioblastoma: The emerging role of MET signaling, Onco. Targets. Ther. 7 (2014) 1933–1944. https://doi.org/10.2147/OTT.S36582.
- [13] D. Hanahan, R.A. Weinberg, Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation., Cell. 144 (2011) 646– 74.
- [14] K.W. Hunter, R. Amin, S. Deasy, N.H. Ha, L. Wakefield, Genetic insights into the morass of metastatic heterogeneity, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 18 (2018) 211–223. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2017.126.
- [15] T.T. Lah, M. Novak, B. Breznik, Brain malignancies: Cancer cell trafficking in and out of the niches, Semin. Cancer Biol. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2019.10.010.
- [16] X. Ye, R.A. Weinberg, Epithelial-mesenchymal plasticity: A central regulator of cancer progression, Trends Cell Biol. 25 (2015) 675–686. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2015.07.012.

- [17] M. Morikawa, R. Derynck, K. Miyazono, TGF- β and the TGF-β family: Context-dependent roles in cell and tissue physiology, Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 8 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a021873.
- [18] F. Sader, J.F. Denis, H. Laref, S. Roy, Epithelial to mesenchymal transition is mediated by both TGF-β canonical and non-canonical signaling during axolotl limb regeneration, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-38171-5.
- [19] J. V. Joseph, S. Conroy, T. Tomar, E. Eggens-Meijer, K. Bhat, S. Copray, A.M.E. Walenkamp, E. Boddeke, V. Balasubramanyian, M. Wagemakers, W.F.A. Den Dunnen, F.A.E. Kruyt, TGF-β is an inducer of ZEB1-dependent mesenchymal transdifferentiation in glioblastoma that is associated with tumor invasion, Cell Death Dis. 5 (2014) e1443-14. https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2014.395.
- [20] C.J. Chang, C.H. Chao, W. Xia, J.Y. Yang, Y. Xiong, C.W. Li, W.H. Yu, S.K. Rehman, J.L. Hsu, H.H. Lee, M. Liu, C. Te Chen, D. Yu, M.C. Hung, P53 regulates epithelial-mesenchymal transition and stem cell properties through modulating miRNAs, Nat. Cell Biol. 13 (2011) 317–323. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2173.
- [21] M. Di Domenico, A. Giordano, Signal transduction growth factors: The effective governance of transcription and cellular adhesion in cancer invasion, Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 36869–36884. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.16300.
- [22] B. Singh, G. Carpenter, R.J. Coffey, EGF receptor ligands: Recent advances [version 1; referees: 3 approved], F1000Research. 5 (2016). https://doi.org/10.12688/F1000RESEARCH.9025.1.
- [23] R.G.W. Verhaak, K.A. Hoadley, E. Purdom, V. Wang, Y. Qi, M.D. Wilkerson, C.R. Miller, L. Ding, T. Golub, J.P. Mesirov, G. Alexe, M. Lawrence, M. O'Kelly, P. Tamayo, B.A. Weir, S. Gabriel, W. Winckler, S. Gupta, L. Jakkula, H.S. Feiler, J.G. Hodgson, C.D. James, J.N. Sarkaria, C. Brennan, A. Kahn, P.T. Spellman, R.K. Wilson, T.P. Speed, J.W. Gray, M. Meyerson, G. Getz, C.M. Perou, D.N. Hayes, Integrated genomic analysis identifies clinically relevant subtypes of glioblastoma characterized by abnormalities in PDGFRA, IDH1, EGFR, and NF1, Cancer Cell. 17 (2010) 98– 110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2009.12.020.
- [24] A.A. Postigo, Opposing functions of ZEB proteins in the regulation of the TGFβ/BMP signaling pathway, EMBO J. 22 (2003) 2443–2452. https://doi.org/10.1093/emboj/cdg225.
- [25] P.A. Gregory, C.P. Bracken, E. Smith, A.G. Bert, J.A. Wright, S. Roslan, M. Morris, L. Wyatt, G. Farshid, Y.Y. Lim, G.J. Lindeman, M.F. Shannon, P.A. Drew, Y. Khew-Goodall, G.J. Goodall, An autocrine TGF-β/ZEB/miR-200 signaling network regulates establishment and maintenance of epithelial-mesenchymal transition, Mol. Biol. Cell. 22 (2011) 1686–1698. https://doi.org/10.1091/mbc.E11-02-0103.
- [26] E. Sánchez-Tilló, Y. Liu, O. De Barrios, L. Siles, L. Fanlo, M. Cuatrecasas, D.S. Darling, D.C. Dean, A. Castells, A. Postigo, EMT-activating transcription factors in cancer: Beyond EMT and tumor invasiveness, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 69 (2012) 3429–3456. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-012-1122-2.
- [27] Q. Fan, M.T. Qiu, Z. Zhu, J.H. Zhou, L. Chen, Y. Zhou, W. Gu, L.H. Wang, Z.N. Li, Y. Xu, W.W. Cheng, D. Wu, W. Bao, Twist induces epithelial-mesenchymal transition in cervical carcinogenesis by regulating the TGF-β/Smad3 signaling pathway, Oncol. Rep. 34 (2015) 1787–1794. https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2015.4143.
- [28] Z. Wang, Y. Li, F. H. Sarkar, Notch signaling proteins: Legitimate targets for cancer therapy, Curr. Protein Pept. Sci. 11 (2010) 398–408. https://doi.org/10.2174/138920310791824039.
- [29] I. Espinoza, L. Miele, Deadly crosstalk: Notch signaling at the intersection of EMT and cancer stem cells., Cancer Lett. 341 (2013) 41–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2013.08.027.
- [30] D. Li, M. Masiero, A.H. Banham, A.L. Harris, The Notch ligand Jagged1 as a target for 1 antitumour therapy, Front. Oncol. 4 (2014) 1–13. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2014.00254.
- [31] Y. Komiya, R. Habas, Wnt signal transduction pathways Wnt Secretion and Extra-Cellular Regulators, Organogenesis. 4 (2008) 68–75.

- [32] S. Tanabe, Wnt signaling and epithelial-mesenchymal transition network in cancer, Research Journal of oncology. (2018) 2–3.
- [33] F. Ma, W. Li, C. Liu, W. Li, H. Yu, B. Lei, Y. Ren, Z. Li, D. Pang, C. Qian, MiR-23a promotes TGFβ1-induced EMT and tumor metastasis in breast cancer cells by directly targeting CDH1 and activating Wnt/β-catenin signaling, Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 69538–69550. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.18422.
- [34] M.A. Nieto, R.Y.Y.J. Huang, R.A.A. Jackson, J.P.P. Thiery, EMT: 2016, Cell. 166 (2016) 21–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.06.028.
- [35] C. Niehrs, The complex world of WNT receptor signalling, Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 13 (2012) 767–779. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrm3470.
- [36] D. Kim, T. Xing, Z. Yang, R. Dudek, Q. Lu, Y.-H. Chen, Epithelial mesenchymal transition in embryonic development, tissue repair and cancer: A comprehensive overview, J. Clin. Med. 7 (2017) 1. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm7010001.
- [37] F. Martin-Belmonte, I. Bernascone, M. Galvez-Santisteban, Cell polarity, in: Encycl. Cell Biol., Elsevier Inc., 2016: pp. 741–750. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-394447-4.20072-2.
- [38] P. Friedl, K. Wolf, Plasticity of cell migration: A multiscale tuning model, J. Cell Biol. 188 (2010) 11–19. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200909003.
- [39] P. Friedl, J. Locker, E. Sahai, J.E. Segall, Classifying collective cancer cell invasion, Nat. Cell Biol. 14 (2012) 777–783. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncb2548.
- [40] C. Frantz, K.M. Stewart, V.M. Weaver, The extracellular matrix at a glance, J. Cell Sci. 123 (2010) 4195–4200. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.023820.
- [41] P. Lu, K. Takai, V.M. Weaver, Z. Werb, Extracellular matrix degradation and remodeling in development and disease, Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol. 3 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect.a005058.
- [42] A. Katsumi, A.W. Orr, E. Tzima, A.M. Schwartz, Integrins in mechanotransduction, J. Biol. Chem. 279 (2004) 12001–12005. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R300038200.
- [43] P. Friedl, K. Wolf, Tumour-cell invasion and migration: Diversity and escape mechanisms., Nat. Rev. Cancer. 3 (2003) 362–74. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1075.
- [44] L.C. Kelley, L.L. Lohmer, E.J. Hagedorn, D.R. Sherwood, Traversing the basement membrane in vivo: A diversity of strategies, J. Cell Biol. 204 (2014) 291–302. https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.201311112.
- [45] L. Sevenich, J.A. Joyce, Pericellular proteolysis in cancer, Genes Dev. 28 (2014) 2331–2347. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.250647.114.
- [46] T.T. Lah, M.B. Durán Alonso, C.J.F. Van Noorden, Antiprotease therapy in cancer: hot or not?, Expert Opin. Biol. Ther. 6 (2006) 257–79. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16503735 (accessed August 9, 2012).
- [47] M.J. Duffy, P. O'Grady, D. Devaney, L. O'Siorain, J.J. Fennelly, H.J. Lijnen, Urokinase-plasminogen activator, a marker for aggressive breast carcinomas. Preliminary report, Cancer.
 62 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(19880801)62:3<531::AID-CNCR2820620315>3.0.CO;2-B.
- [48] G. Engel, K. Heselmeyer, G. Auer, M. Bäckdahl, E. Eriksson, S. Under, Correlation between stromelysin-3 mRNA level and outcome of human breast cancer, Int. J. Cancer. 58 (1994) 830– 835. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.2910580614.
- [49] D.W. Visscher, B.F. Sloane, M. Sameni, J.W. Babiarz, J. Jacobson, J.D. Crissman, Clinicopathologic significance of cathepsin B immunostaining in transitional neoplasia., Mod. Pathol. (1994).
- [50] T. Inoue, T. Ishida, K. Sugio, K. Sugimachi, Cathepsin B expression and laminin degradation as factors influencing prognosis of surgically treated patients with lung adenocarcinoma, Cancer Res. (1994).
- [51] E. Campo, J. Muñoz, R. Miquel, A. Palacín, A. Cardesa, B.F. Sloane, M.R. Emmert-Buck,

Cathepsin B expression in colorectal carcinomas correlates with tumor progression and shortened patient survival, Am. J. Pathol. (1994).

- [52] M.J. Duffy, Proteases as Prognostic Markers in Cancer, Clin. Cancer Res. 2 (1996) 613–618.
- [53] B. Turk, Targeting proteases: Successes, failures and future prospects, Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. 5 (2006) 785–799. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd2092.
- [54] S.D. Mason, J.A. Joyce, Proteolytic networks in cancer, Trends Cell Biol. 21 (2011) 228–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2010.12.002.
- [55] V. Gocheva, J.A. Joyce, Cysteine cathepsins and the cutting edge of cancer invasion, Cell Cycle. 6 (2007) 60–64. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.6.1.3669.
- [56] K. Kessenbrock, V. Plaks, Z. Werb, Metalloproteinases: Regulators of the tumor microenvironment, Cell. 141 (2010) 52–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/jid.2014.371.
- [57] M. Vizovišek, M. Fonović, B. Turk, Cysteine cathepsins in extracellular matrix remodeling: Extracellular matrix degradation and beyond, Matrix Biol. 75–76 (2019) 141–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.matbio.2018.01.024.
- [58] E. Vidak, U. Javoršek, M. Vizovišek, B. Turk, Cysteine cathepsins and their extracellular roles: Shaping the microenvironment, Cells. 8 (2019) 264. https://doi.org/10.3390/cells8030264.
- [59] B. Sobotič, M. Vizovišek, R. Vidmar, P. Van Damme, V. Gocheva, J.A. Joyce, K. Gevaert, V. Turk,
 B. Turk, M. Fonović, Proteomic identification of cysteine cathepsin substrates shed from the surface of cancer cells, Mol. Cell. Proteomics. 14 (2015) 2213–2228. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp.M114.044628.
- [60] L.E. Hillebrand, T. Reinheckel, Impact of proteolysis on cancer stem cell functions, Biochimie. 166 (2019) 214–222. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI39104.1420.
- [61] H. Li, S. Duhachek-Muggy, S. Dubnicka, A. Zolkiewska, Metalloproteinase-disintegrin ADAM12 is associated with a breast tumor-initiating cell phenotype, Breast Cancer Res. Treat. 139 (2013) 691–703. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-013-2602-2.
- [62] S. Duhachek-Muggy, Y. Qi, R. Wise, L. Alyahya, H. Li, J. Hodge, A. Zolkiewska, Metalloproteasedisintegrin ADAM12 actively promotes the stem cell-like phenotype in claudin-low breast cancer, Mol. Cancer. 16 (2017) 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12943-017-0599-6.
- [63] O. Warburg, On respiratory impairment in cancer cells., Science. 124 (1956) 269–70. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/13351639 (accessed January 2, 2020).
- [64] A. Mitrović, U. Pečar Fonović, J. Kos, Cysteine cathepsins B and X promote epithelialmesenchymal transition of tumor cells, Eur. J. Cell Biol. 96 (2017) 622–631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejcb.2017.04.003.
- [65] Z. Jevnikar, N. Obermajer, M. Bogyo, J. Kos, The role of cathepsin X in the migration and invasiveness of T lymphocytes, J. Cell Sci. 121 (2008) 2652–2661. https://doi.org/10.1242/jcs.023721.
- [66] J. Dennemarker, T. Lohmuller, J. Mayerle, M. Tacke, M.M. Lerch, L.M. Coussens, C. Peters, T. Reinheckel, Deficiency for the cysteine protease cathepsin L promotes tumor progression in mouse epidermis, Oncogene. 29 (2010) 1611–1621. https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A1256.Functional.
- [67] S. Kenig, R. Frangež, A. Pucer, T. Lah, Inhibition of cathepsin L lowers the apoptotic threshold of glioblastoma cells by up-regulating p53 and transcription of caspases 3 and 7, Apoptosis. 16 (2011) 671–682. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10495-011-0600-6.
- [68] B. Breznik, H. Motaln, T.L. Turnšek, Proteases and cytokines as mediators of interactions between cancer and stromal cells in tumours, Biol. Chem. 398 (2017) 709–719. https://doi.org/10.1515/hsz-2016-0283.
- [69] B. Turk, D. Turk, G. Salvesen, Regulating cysteine protease activity: Essential role of protease inhibitors as guardians and regulators, Curr. Pharm. Des. 8 (2002) 1623–1637. https://doi.org/10.2174/1381612023394124.
- [70] B. Breznik, A. Mitrović, T. Lah Turnšek, J. Kos, Cystatins in cancer progression: More than just

cathepsin inhibitors, Biochimie. (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biochi.2019.05.002.

- [71] C. López-Otín, J.S. Bond, Proteases: Multifunctional enzymes in life and disease, J. Biol. Chem. 283 (2008) 30433–30437. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.R800035200.
- [72] B. Wegiel, T. Jiborn, M. Abrahamson, L. Helczynski, L. Otterbein, J.L. Persson, A. Bjartell, Cystatin C is downregulated in prostate cancer and modulates invasion of prostate cancer cells via MAPK/Erk and androgen receptor pathways, PLoS One. 4 (2009) 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0007953.
- [73] J. Završnik, M. Butinar, M.T. Prebanda, A. Krajnc, R. Vidmar, M. Fonović, A. Grubb, V. Turk, B. Turk, O. Vasiljeva, Cystatin C deficiency suppresses tumor growth in a breast cancer model through decreased proliferation of tumor cells, Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 73793–73809. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.17379.
- [74] M. Butinar, M.T. Prebanda, J. Rajković, B. Jerič, V. Stoka, C. Peters, T. Reinheckel, A. Krüger, V. Turk, B. Turk, O. Vasiljeva, Stefin B deficiency reduces tumor growth via sensitization of tumor cells to oxidative stress in a breast cancer model, Br. Dent. J. 217 (2014) 3392–3400. https://doi.org/10.1038/onc.2013.314.
- [75] M.P. Nanut, J. Sabotič, U. Švajger, A. Jewett, J. Kos, Cystatin F affects natural killer cell cytotoxicity, Front. Immunol. 8 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2017.01459.
- [76] P. Valent, D. Bonnet, R. De Maria, T. Lapidot, M. Copland, J. V. Melo, C. Chomienne, F. Ishikawa, J.J. Schuringa, G. Stassi, B. Huntly, H. Herrmann, J. Soulier, A. Roesch, G.J. Schuurhuis, S. Wöhrer, M. Arock, J. Zuber, S. Cerny-Reiterer, H.E. Johnsen, M. Andreeff, C. Eaves, Cancer stem cell definitions and terminology: The devil is in the details, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 12 (2012) 767–775. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc3368.
- [77] B.C. Prager, Q. Xie, S. Bao, J.N. Rich, Cancer Stem Cells: The Architects of the Tumor Ecosystem, Cell Stem Cell. 24 (2019) 41–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2018.12.009.
- [78] T. Shibue, Robert A. Weinberg, EMT, CSCs, and drug resistance: the mechanistic link and clinical implications, Nat Rev Clin Oncol. 14 (2017) 611–629. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2018.06.092.
- [79] J.W. Cassidy, C. Caldas, A. Bruna, Maintaining tumor heterogeneity in patient-derived tumor xenografts, Cancer Res. 75 (2015) 2963–2968. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-0727.
- [80] K.P.L. Bhat, V. Balasubramaniyan, B. Vaillant, R. Ezhilarasan, K. Hummelink, F. Hollingsworth, K. Wani, L. Heathcock, J.D. James, L.D. Goodman, S. Conroy, L. Long, N. Lelic, S. Wang, J. Gumin, D. Raj, Y. Kodama, A. Raghunathan, A. Olar, K. Joshi, C.E. Pelloski, A. Heimberger, S.H. Kim, D.P. Cahill, G. Rao, W.F.A. DenDunnen, H.W.G.M. Boddeke, H.S. Phillips, I. Nakano, F.F. Lang, H. Colman, E.P. Sulman, K. Aldape, Mesenchymal differentiation mediated by NF-κB promotes radiation resistance in glioblastoma, Cancer Cell. 24 (2013) 331–346. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2013.08.001.
- [81] M.L. Broekman, S.L.N. Maas, E.R. Abels, T.R. Mempel, A.M. Krichevsky, X.O. Breakefield, Multidimensional communication in the microenvirons of glioblastoma, Nat. Rev. Neurol. (2018). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-018-0025-8.
- [82] Y. Jing, Z. Han, S. Zhang, Y. Liu, L. Wei, Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in tumor microenvironment, Cell Biosci. 1 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1186/2045-3701-1-29.
- [83] U. TajnŠek, H. Motaln, N. Levičar, A. Rotter, T.T. Lah, The duality of stem cells: Double-edged sword in tumor evolution and treatment, in: Trends Stem Cell Prolif. Cancer Res., Springer Netherlands, 2013: pp. 391–433. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-6211-4_15.
- [84] E.S. Molina, M.M. Pillat, V. Moura-Neto, T.T. Lah, H. Ulrich, Glioblastoma stem-like cells: approaches for isolation and characterization, J. Cancer Stem Cell Res. 1 (2014) 1. https://doi.org/10.14343/JCSCR.2014.2e1007.
- [85] T. Brabletz, To differentiate or not routes towards metastasis., Nat. Rev. Cancer. 12 (2012)
 425–36. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22576165 (accessed July 16, 2012).

- [86] Y. Li, J. Laterra, Cancer stem cells: Distinct entities or dynamically regulated phenotypes?, Cancer Res. 72 (2012) 576–580. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3070.
- [87] D. Jia, M.K. Jolly, P. Kulkarni, H. Levine, Phenotypic plasticity and cell fate decisions in cancer: Insights from dynamical systems theory, Cancers (Basel). 9 (2017) 1–19. https://doi.org/10.3390/cancers9070070.
- [88] A.P. Morel, M. Lièvre, C. Thomas, G. Hinkal, S. Ansieau, A. Puisieux, Generation of breast cancer stem cells through epithelial-mesenchymal transition, PLoS One. 3 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0002888.
- [89] T. Brabletz, EMT and MET in metastasis: Where are the cancer stem cells?, Cancer Cell. 22 (2012) 699–701. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.11.009.
- [90] S.A. Mani, W. Guo, M.J. Liao, E.N. Eaton, A. Ayyanan, A.Y. Zhou, M. Brooks, F. Reinhard, C.C. Zhang, M. Shipitsin, L.L. Campbell, K. Polyak, C. Brisken, J. Yang, R.A. Weinberg, The epithelial-mesenchymal transition generates cells with properties of stem cells, Cell. 133 (2008) 704–715. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2008.03.027.
- [91] J.E. Visvader, G.J. Lindeman, Cancer stem cells in solid tumours: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions., Nat. Rev. Cancer. 8 (2008) 755–68. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2499.
- [92] K. Weidenfeld, D. Barkan, EMT and Stemness in Tumor Dormancy and Outgrowth: Are They Intertwined Processes?, Front. Oncol. 8 (2018) 1–6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2018.00381.
- [93] V. Plaks, N. Kong, Z. Werb, The cancer stem cell niche: How essential is the niche in regulating stemness of tumor cells?, Cell Stem Cell. 16 (2015) 225–238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2015.02.015.
- [94] D.R. Welch, D.R. Hurst, Defining the hallmarks of metastasis, Cancer Res. (2019) 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-19-0458.
- [95] P.S. Steeg, Targeting metastasis, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 16 (2016) 201–218. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc.2016.25.
- [96] Y. Zhao, Q. Dong, J. Li, K. Zhang, J. Qin, J. Zhao, Q. Sun, Z. Wang, T. Wartmann, K.W. Jauch, P.J. Nelson, L.X. Qin, C. Bruns, Targeting cancer stem cells and their niche: perspectives for future therapeutic targets and strategies, Semin. Cancer Biol. 53 (2018) 139–155. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2018.08.002.
- [97] F. Winkler, The brain metastatic niche, J. Mol. Med. 93 (2015) 1213–1220. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00109-015-1357-0.
- [98] Y. Yan, F. Liu, L. Han, L. Zhao, J. Chen, O.I. Olopade, M. He, M. Wei, HIF-2α promotes conversion to a stem cell phenotype and induces chemoresistance in breast cancer cells by activating Wnt and Notch pathways, J. Exp. Clin. Cancer Res. 37 (2018) 256. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13046-018-0925-x.
- [99] I. Skvortsova, P. Debbage, V. Kumar, S. Skvortsov, Radiation resistance: Cancer stem cells (CSCs) and their enigmatic pro-survival signaling., Semin. Cancer Biol. 35 (2015) 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.09.009.
- [100] W. Shangguan, C. Fan, X. Chen, R. Lu, Y. Liu, Y. Li, Y. Shang, D. Yin, S. Zhang, Q. Huang, X. Li, W. Meng, H. Xu, Z. Zhou, J. Hu, X. Mo, Endothelium originated from colorectal cancer stem cells constitute cancer blood vessels, Cancer Sci. 108 (2017) 1357–1367. https://doi.org/10.1111/cas.13262.
- [101] B. Psaila, D. Lyden, The metastatic niche: adapting the foreign soil., Nat. Rev. Cancer. 9 (2009) 285–93. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2621.
- [102] I.J. Fidler, The pathogenesis of cancer metastasis: The "seed and soil" hypothesis revisited, Nat. Rev. Cancer. 3 (2003) 453–458. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc1098.
- [103] D.N. Louis, A. Perry, G. Reifenberger, A. von Deimling, D. Figarella-Branger, W.K. Cavenee, H. Ohgaki, O.D. Wiestler, P. Kleihues, D.W. Ellison, The 2016 World Health Organization Classification of Tumors of the Central Nervous System: a summary, Acta Neuropathol. 131 (2016) 803–820. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00401-016-1545-1.

- [104] C. Kubelt, K. Hattermann, S. Sebens, H.M. Mehdorn, J. Held-Feindt, Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition in paired human primary and recurrent glioblastomas, Int. J. Oncol. 46 (2015) 2515– 2525. https://doi.org/10.3892/ijo.2015.2944.
- [105] E.G. Van Meir, C.G. Hadjipanayis, A.D. Norden, H. Shu, Exciting New Advances in Neuro-Oncology The Avenue to a Cure for Malignant Glioma, (2010). https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.20069.Available.
- [106] M. Minata, A. Audia, J. Shi, S. Lu, J. Bernstock, M.S. Pavlyukov, A. Das, S.H. Kim, Y.J. Shin, Y. Lee, H. Koo, K. Snigdha, I. Waghmare, X. Guo, A. Mohyeldin, D. Gallego-Perez, J. Wang, D. Chen, P. Cheng, F. Mukheef, M. Contreras, J.F. Reyes, B. Vaillant, E.P. Sulman, S.Y. Cheng, J.M. Markert, B.A. Tannous, X. Lu, M. Kango-Singh, L.J. Lee, D.H. Nam, I. Nakano, K.P. Bhat, Phenotypic plasticity of invasive edge glioma stem-like cells in response to ionizing radiation, Cell Rep. 26 (2019) 1893-1905.e7. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.celrep.2019.01.076.
- [107] J. Lau, S. Ilkhanizadeh, S. Wang, Y.A. Miroshnikova, N.A. Salvatierra, R.A. Wong, C. Schmidt, V.M. Weaver, W.A. Weiss, A.I. Persson, STAT3 blockade inhibits radiation-Induced malignant progression in glioma, Cancer Res. 75 (2015) 4302–4311. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3331.
- [108] S. Mehta, C. Lo Cascio, Developmentally regulated signaling pathways in glioma invasion, Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 75 (2018) 385–402. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-017-2608-8.
- [109] R. Mentlein, K. Hattermann, J. Held-Feindt, Lost in disruption: role of proteases in glioma invasion and progression., Biochim. Biophys. Acta. 1825 (2012) 178–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2011.12.001.
- [110] M.C. Elias, K.R. Tozer, J.R. Silber, S. Mikheeva, M. Deng, R.S. Morrison, T.C. Manning, D.L. Silbergeld, C.A. Glackin, T.A. Reh, R.C. Rostomily, TWIST is expressed in human gliomas and promotes invasion, Neoplasia. 7 (2005) 824–837. https://doi.org/10.1593/neo.04352.
- [111] F.A. Siebzehnrubl, D.J. Silver, B. Tugertimur, L.P. Deleyrolle, D. Siebzehnrubl, M.R. Sarkisian, K.G. Devers, A.T. Yachnis, M.D. Kupper, D. Neal, N.H. Nabilsi, M.P. Kladde, O. Suslov, S. Brabletz, T. Brabletz, B.A. Reynolds, D.A. Steindler, The ZEB1 pathway links glioblastoma initiation, invasion and chemoresistance, EMBO Mol. Med. 5 (2013) 1196–1212. https://doi.org/10.1002/emmm.201302827.
- [112] H.W. Yang, L.G. Menon, P.M. Black, R.S. Carroll, M.D. Johnson, SNAI2/Slug promotes growth and invasion in human gliomas, BMC Cancer. 10 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-10-301.
- [113] L.J. Lewis-Tuffin, F. Rodriguez, C. Giannini, B. Scheithauer, B.M. Necela, J.N. Sarkaria, P.Z. Anastasiadis, Misregulated E-Cadherin expression associated with an aggressive brain tumor phenotype, PLoS One. 5 (2010). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013665.
- [114] I.C. Iser, M.B. Pereira, G. Lenz, M.R. Wink, The epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition-like process in glioblastoma: An updated systematic review and in silico investigation, Med. Res. Rev. 37 (2017) 271–313. https://doi.org/10.1002/med.21408.
- [115] J. Behnan, G. Finocchiaro, G. Hanna, The landscape of the mesenchymal signature in brain tumours, Brain. 142 (2019) 847–866. https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awz044.
- [116] I.C. Iser, S.M. Ceschini, G.R. Onzi, A.P.S. Bertoni, G. Lenz, M.R. Wink, Conditioned medium from adipose-derived stem cells (ADSCs) promotes epithelial-to-mesenchymal-like transition (EMT-Like) in glioma Cells In vitro, Mol. Neurobiol. 53 (2016) 7184–7199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12035-015-9585-4.
- [117] C. Liu, Y. Tu, X. Sun, J. Jiang, X. Jin, X. Bo, Z. Li, A. Bian, X. Wang, D. Liu, Z. Wang, L. Ding, Wnt/beta-catenin pathway in human glioma: Expression pattern and clinical/prognostic correlations, Clin. Exp. Med. 11 (2011) 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10238-010-0110-9.
- [118] U.D. Kahlert, D. Maciaczyk, S. Doostkam, B.A. Orr, B. Simons, T. Bogiel, T. Reithmeier, M. Prinz, J. Schubert, G. Niedermann, T. Brabletz, C.G. Eberhart, G. Nikkhah, J. Maciaczyk, Activation of canonical WNT/β-catenin signaling enhances in vitro motility of glioblastoma

cells by activation of ZEB1 and other activators of epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition, Cancer Lett. 325 (2012) 42–53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2012.05.024.

- [119] L. Zhang, H. Liu, X. Mu, J. Cui, Z. Peng, Dysregulation of Fra1 expression by Wnt/β-catenin signalling promotes glioma aggressiveness through epithelial-mesenchymal transition, Biosci. Rep. 37 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20160643.
- [120] K.M. Joo, J. Jin, E. Kim, K.H. Kim, Y. Kim, B.G. Kang, Y.J. Kang, J.D. Lathia, K.H. Cheong, P.H. Song, H. Kim, H.J. Seol, D.S. Kong, J. II Lee, J.N. Rich, J. Lee, D.H. Nam, MET signaling regulates glioblastoma stem cells, Cancer Res. 72 (2012) 3828–3838. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3760.
- [121] S.K. Singh, I.D. Clarke, M. Terasaki, V.E. Bonn, C. Hawkins, J. Squire, P.B. Dirks, Identification of a cancer stem cell in human brain tumors, Cancer Res. 63 (2003) 5821–5828.
- [122] J.D. Lathia, M. Li, P.E. Hall, J. Gallagher, J.S. Hale, Q. Wu, M. Venere, E. Levy, M.R.S. Rani, P. Huang, E. Bae, J. Selfridge, L. Cheng, H. Guvenc, R.E. McLendon, I. Nakano, A.E. Sloan, H.S. Phillips, A. Lai, C.L. Gladson, M. Bredel, S. Bao, A.B. Hjelmeland, J.N. Rich, Laminin alpha 2 enables glioblastoma stem cell growth, Ann. Neurol. 72 (2012) 766–778. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.23674.
- [123] S. Bao, Q. Wu, R.E. McLendon, Y. Hao, Q. Shi, A.B. Hjelmeland, M.W. Dewhirst, D.D. Bigner, J.N. Rich, Glioma stem cells promote radioresistance by preferential activation of the DNA damage response, Nature. 444 (2006) 756–760. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05236.
- [124] T. Borovski, F. De Sousa E Melo, L. Vermeulen, J.P. Medema, Cancer stem cell niche: The place to be, Cancer Res. 71 (2011) 634–639. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3220.
- [125] B. Otvos, D.J. Silver, E.E. Mulkearns-Hubert, A.G. Alvarado, S.M. Turaga, M.D. Sorensen, P. Rayman, W.A. Flavahan, J.S. Hale, K. Stoltz, M. Sinyuk, Q. Wu, A. Jarrar, S.H. Kim, P.L. Fox, I. Nakano, J.N. Rich, R.M. Ransohoff, J. Finke, B.W. Kristensen, M.A. Vogelbaum, J.D. Lathia, Cancer stem cell-secreted macrophage migration inhibitory factor stimulates myeloid derived suppressor cell function and facilitates glioblastoma immune evasion, Stem Cells. 34 (2016) 2026–2039. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2393.
- [126] A.G. Alvarado, P.S. Thiagarajan, E.E. Mulkearns-Hubert, D.J. Silver, J.S. Hale, T.J. Alban, S.M. Turaga, A. Jarrar, O. Reizes, M.S. Longworth, M.A. Vogelbaum, J.D. Lathia, Glioblastoma cancer stem cells evade innate immune suppression of self-renewal through reduced TLR4 expression, Cell Stem Cell. 20 (2017) 450-461.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2016.12.001.
- [127] J.D. Lathia, J. Gallagher, J.M. Heddleston, J. Wang, C.E. Eyler, J. MacSwords, Q. Wu, A. Vasanji, R.E. McLendon, A.B. Hjelmeland, J.N. Rich, Integrin Alpha 6 regulates glioblastoma stem cells, Cell Stem Cell. 6 (2010) 421–432. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stem.2010.02.018.
- [128] K. Ludwig, H.I. Kornblum, Molecular markers in glioma, J. Neurooncol. 134 (2017) 505–512. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11060-017-2379-y.
- [129] N. Podergajs, H. Motaln, U. Rajčević, U. Verbovšek, M. Koršič, N. Obad, H. Espedal, M. Vittori,
 C. Herold-mende, H. Miletic, R. Bjerkvig, T.L. Turnšek, Transmembrane protein CD9 is glioblastoma biomarker, relevant for maintenance of glioblastoma stem cells, (2015).
- [130] J.D. Lathia, S.C. Mack, E.E. Mulkearns-Hubert, C.L.L. Valentim, J.N. Rich, Cancer stem cells in glioblastoma, Genes Dev. 29 (2015) 1203–1217. https://doi.org/10.1101/gad.261982.115.
- [131] L.F. Pavon, T.T. Sibov, A.V. De Souza, E.F. Da Cruz, S.M.F. Malheiros, F.R. Cabral, J.G. De Souza, P. Boufleur, D.M. De Oliveira, S.R.C. De Toledo, L.C. Marti, J.M. Malheiros, F.F. Paiva, A. Tannús, S.M. De Oliveira, A.M. Chudzinski-Tavassi, M.A. De Paiva Neto, S. Cavalheiro, Tropism of mesenchymal stem cell toward CD133+ stem cell of glioblastoma in vitro and promote tumor proliferation in vivo, Stem Cell Res. Ther. 9 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13287-018-1049-0.
- [132] A. Hossain, J. Gumin, F. Gao, J. Figueroa, N. Shinojima, T. Takezaki, W. Priebe, D. Villarreal, S.G. Kang, C. Joyce, E. Sulman, Q. Wang, F.C. Marini, M. Andreeff, H. Colman, F.F. Lang, Mesenchymal stem cells isolated from human gliomas increase proliferation and maintain

stemness of glioma stem cells through the IL-6/gp130/STAT3 pathway, Stem Cells. 33 (2015) 2400–2415. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.2053.

- [133] S.M. Cabarcas, L.A. Mathews, W.L. Farrar, The cancer stem cell niche-there goes the neighborhood?, Int. J. Cancer. 129 (2011) 2315–2327. https://doi.org/10.1002/ijc.26312.
- [134] V.V.V. Hira, D.A. Aderetti, C.J.F. van Noorden, Glioma Stem Cell Niches in Human Glioblastoma Are Periarteriolar, J. Histochem. Cytochem. 66 (2018) 349–358. https://doi.org/10.1369/0022155417752676.
- [135] V.V.V. Hira, B. Breznik, M. Vittori, A. Loncq de Jong, J. Mlakar, R.J. Oostra, M. Khurshed, R.J. Molenaar, T. Lah, C.J.F. Van Noorden, Similarities between stem cell niches in glioblastoma and bone marrow: Rays of hope for novel treatment strategies, J. Histochem. Cytochem. 68 (2020) 33–57. https://doi.org/10.1369/0022155419878416.
- [136] B. Breznik, C. Limback, A. Porcnik, A. Blejec, M.K. Krajnc, R. Bosnjak, J. Kos, C.J.F. Van Noorden, T.T. Lah, Localization patterns of cathepsins K and X and their predictive value in glioblastoma, Radiol. Oncol. 52 (2018) 433–442. https://doi.org/10.2478/raon-2018-0040.
- [137] U. Verbovšek, C.J.F. Van Noorden, T.T. Lah, Complexity of cancer protease biology: Cathepsin K expression and function in cancer progression, Semin. Cancer Biol. 35 (2015) 71–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.08.010.
- [138] V.V.V. Hira, C.J.F. Van Noorden, H.E. Carraway, J.P. Maciejewski, R.J. Molenaar, Novel therapeutic strategies to target leukemic cells that hijack compartmentalized continuous hematopoietic stem cell niches, BBA - Rev. Cancer. 1868 (2017) 183–198. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbcan.2017.03.010.
- [139] A.W. Lambert, D.R. Pattabiraman, R.A. Weinberg, Emerging biological principles of metastasis, Cell. 168 (2017) 670–691. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2016.11.037.
- [140] M.A. Nieto, The ins and outs of the epithelial to mesenchymal transition in health and disease, Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol. 27 (2011) 347–376. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurevcellbio-092910-154036.
- [141] G. Acs, T.J. Lawton, T.R. Rebbeck, V.A. LiVolsi, P.J. Zhang, Differential expression of E-Cadherin in lobular and ductal neoplasms of the breast and its biologic and diagnostic implications, Am. J. Clin. Pathol. 115 (2001) 85–98. https://doi.org/10.1309/FDHX-L92R-BATQ-2GE0.
- [142] K. Okubo, Y. Uenosono, T. Arigami, S. Yanagita, D. Matsushita, T. Kijima, M. Amatatsu, Y. Uchikado, Y. Kijima, K. Maemura, S. Natsugoe, Clinical significance of altering epithelialmesenchymal transition in metastatic lymph nodes of gastric cancer, Gastric Cancer. 20 (2017) 802–810. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10120-017-0705-x.
- [143] O. Schmalhofer, S. Brabletz, T. Brabletz, E-cadherin, β-catenin, and ZEB1 in malignant progression of cancer, Cancer Metastasis Rev. 28 (2009) 151–166. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10555-008-9179-y.
- [144] D. Sarrió, S.M. Rodriguez-Pinilla, D. Hardisson, A. Cano, G. Moreno-Bueno, J. Palacios, Epithelial-mesenchymal transition in breast cancer relates to the basal-like phenotype, Cancer Res. 68 (2008) 989–997. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-2017.
- [145] J. Maier, B. Traenkle, U. Rothbauer, Visualizing epithelial-mesenchymal transition using the chromobody technology, Cancer Res. 76 (2016) 5592–5596. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-3419.
- [146] E.L. Snapp, Fluorescent Proteins: A Cell Biologist's User Guide, Trends Cell Biol. 19 (2009) 649– 655. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcb.2009.08.002.Fluorescent.
- [147] M. Luan, J. Chang, W. Pan, Y. Chen, N. Li, B. Tang, Simultaneous fluorescence visualization of epithelial-mesenchymal transition and apoptosis processes in tumor cells for evaluating the impact of epithelial-mesenchymal transition on drug efficacy, Anal. Chem. 90 (2018) 10951– 10957. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.8b02494.
- [148] L.M. da Fonseca, V.A. da Silva, L. Freire-de-Lima, J.O. Previato, L. Mendonça-Previato, M.A.M. Capella, Glycosylation in cancer: Interplay between multidrug resistance and epithelial-to-

mesenchymal transition?, Front. Oncol. 6 (2016). https://doi.org/10.3389/fonc.2016.00158.

- [149] B.A. Teicher, S.A. Holden, G. Ara, G. Chen, S. Holden, G. Ara, G. Chen, Transforming growth factor-ß in vivo resistance, Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. 37 (1996) 601–609.
- [150] Y.L. Sun, A. Patel, P. Kumar, Z.S. Chen, Role of ABC transporters in cancer chemotherapy, Chin. J. Cancer. 31 (2012) 51–57. https://doi.org/10.5732/cjc.011.10466.
- [151] M. Saxena, M.A. Stephens, H. Pathak, A. Rangarajan, Transcription factors that mediate epithelial-mesenchymal transition lead to multidrug resistance by upregulating ABC transporters, Cell Death Dis. 2 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2011.61.
- [152] N.K. Kurrey, S.P. Jalgaonkar, A. V. Joglekar, A.D. Ghanate, P.D. Chaskar, R.Y. Doiphode, S.A. Bapat, Snail and slug mediate radioresistance and chemoresistance by antagonizing p53-mediated apoptosis and acquiring a stem-like phenotype in ovarian cancer cells, Stem Cells. 27 (2009) 2059–2068. https://doi.org/10.1002/stem.154.
- [153] C. Kudo-Saito, H. Shirako, T. Takeuchi, Y. Kawakami, Cancer metastasis is accelerated through immunosuppression during Snail-Induced EMT of cancer cells, Cancer Cell. 15 (2009) 195–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2009.01.023.
- [154] Q. Zheng, Y. Xu, J. Lu, J. Zhao, X. Wei, P. Liu, Emodin Inhibits migration and invasion of human endometrial stromal cells by facilitating the mesenchymal-epithelial transition through targeting ILK, Reprod. Sci. 23 (2016) 1526–1535. https://doi.org/10.1177/1933719116645192.
- [155] J.-W. Ma, C.-M. Hung, Y.-C. Lin, C.-T. Ho, J.-Y. Kao, T.-D. Way, Aloe-emodin inhibits HER-2 expression through the downregulation of Y-box binding protein-1 in HER-2-overexpressing human breast cancer cells, Oncotarget. 7 (2016) 58915–58930. https://doi.org/doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.10410.
- [156] J. Lu, Y. Xu, X. Wei, Z. Zhao, J. Xue, P. Liu, Emodin Inhibits the epithelial to mesenchymal transition of epithelial ovarian cancer cells via ILK/GSK-3 β /Slug signaling pathway, Biomed Res. Int. 2016 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/6253280.
- [157] Y. Katoh, M. Katoh, Hedgehog Target Genes: Mechanisms of carcinogenesis induced by aberrant hedgehog signaling activation, Curr. Mol. Med. 9 (2009) 873–886. https://doi.org/10.2174/156652409789105570.
- [158] L. Wang, J. Zhang, X. Yang, Y.W.Y. Chang, M. Qi, Z. Zhou, J. Zhang, B. Han, SOX4 is associated with poor prognosis in prostate cancer and promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition in vitro, Prostate Cancer Prostatic Dis. 16 (2013) 301–307. https://doi.org/10.1038/pcan.2013.25.
- [159] J. Zhang, C. Shen, L. Wang, Q. Ma, P. Xia, M. Qi, M. Yang, B. Han, Metformin inhibits epithelialmesenchymal transition in prostate cancer cells: Involvement of the tumor suppressor miR30a and its target gene SOX4, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 452 (2014) 746–752. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.08.154.
- [160] D. Iliopoulos, H.A. Hirsch, K. Struhl, Metformin decreases the dose of chemotherapy for prolonging tumor remission in mouse xenografts involving multiple cancer cell types, Cancer Res. 71 (2011) 3196–3201. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3471.
- [161] R. El Bezawy, D. Cominetti, N. Fenderico, V. Zuco, G.L. Beretta, M. Dugo, N. Arrighetti, C. Stucchi, T. Rancati, R. Valdagni, N. Zaffaroni, P. Gandellini, miR-875-5p counteracts epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition and enhances radiation response in prostate cancer through repression of the EGFR-ZEB1 axis, Cancer Lett. 395 (2017) 53–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.canlet.2017.02.033.
- [162] J. Huang, H. Mei, Z. Tang, J. Li, X. Zhang, Y. Lu, F. Huang, Q. Jin, Z. Wang, Triple-amiRNA VEGFRs inhibition in pancreatic cancer improves the efficacy of chemotherapy through EMT regulation, J. Control. Release. 245 (2017) 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jconrel.2016.11.024.
- [163] X. Wang, F. Zhao, F. Shi, X. He, M. Pan, D. Wu, M. Li, Y. Zhang, J. Dou, Reinforcing B16F10/GPI-IL-21 vaccine efficacy against melanoma by injecting mice with shZEB1 plasmid or miR200c

agomir, Biomed. Pharmacother. 80 (2016) 136–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2016.03.013.

- [164] T. KIESSLICH, M. PICHLER, D. NEUREITER, Epigenetic control of epithelial-mesenchymaltransition in human cancer, Mol. Clin. Oncol. 1 (2013) 3–11. https://doi.org/10.3892/mco.2012.28.
- [165] P. di Fazio, R. Montalbano, K. Quint, B. Alinger, R. Kemmerling, T. Kiesslich, M. Ocker, D. Neureiter, The pan-deacetylase inhibitor panobinostat modulates the expression of epithelial-mesenchymal transition markers in hepatocellular carcinoma models, Oncol. Lett. 5 (2012) 127–134. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2012.951.
- B. Escudier, T. Eisen, W.M. Stadler, C. Szczylik, S. Oudard, M. Siebels, S. Negrier, C. Chevreau,
 E. Solska, A.A. Desai, F. Rolland, T. Demkow, T.E. Hutson, M. Gore, S. Freeman, B. Schwartz,
 M. Shan, R. Simantov, R.M. Bukowski, Sorafenib in advanced clear-cell renal-cell carcinoma, N.
 Engl. J. Med. 356 (2007) 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa060655.
- [167] S. Meidhof, S. Brabletz, W. Lehmann, B. Preca, K. Mock, M. Ruh, J. Schüler, M. Berthold, A. Weber, U. Burk, M. Lübbert, M. Puhr, Z. Culig, U. Wellner, T. Keck, P. Bronsert, S. Küsters, U.T. Hopt, M.P. Stemmler, T. Brabletz, ZEB 1-associated drug resistance in cancer cells is reversed by the class I HDAC inhibitor mocetinostat, EMBO Mol. Med. 7 (2015) 831–847. https://doi.org/10.15252/emmm.201404396.
- [168] A. Mitrović, I. Sosic, Š. Kos, U.L. Tratar, B. Breznik, S. Kranjc, B. Mirković, S. Gobec, T. Lah, M. Cemažar, G. Serša, J. Kos, Addition of 2-(ethylamino)acetonitrile group to nitroxoline results in significantly improved anti-tumor activity in vitro and in vivo, Oncotarget. 8 (2017) 59136–59147. https://doi.org/10.18632/oncotarget.19296.
- [169] U.P. Fonović, A. Mitrović, D. Knez, T. Jakoš, A. Pišlar, B. Brus, B. Doljak, J. Stojan, S. Žakelj, J. Trontelj, S. Gobec, J. Kos, Identification and characterization of the novel reversible and selective cathepsin X inhibitors, Sci. Rep. 7 (2017) 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-11935-1.
- [170] B. Breznik, C. Limbaeck Stokin, J. Kos, M. Khurshed, V.V.V. Hira, R. Bošnjak, T.T. Lah, C.J.F. Van Noorden, Cysteine cathepsins B, X and K expression in peri-arteriolar glioblastoma stem cell niches, J. Mol. Histol. 49 (2018) 481–497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10735-018-9787-y.



Figure 1. Major EMT-signalling pathways.

Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition (EMT) is regulated by shared WNT, NOTCH, TGF β and tyrosine kinase receptor (TRK) signalling pathways that can induce activation of the ZEB1, SNAIL and TWIST transcription factors. These factors promote EMT by repression of epithelial marker genes and activation of genes characteristic for the mesenchymal phenotype. The WNT pathway is activated by the binding of a WNT-protein ligand to a Frizzled family receptor, which inhibits glycogen synthase kinase-3 β (GSK3 β) to stabilise β -catenin against cytosolic proteasome degradation. β -catenin then translocates to the nucleus and binds to the transcription factors TCF (T cell factor) and LEF (lymphoid enhancer-binding factor) to activate EMT-related gene expression. NOTCH signalling is initiated when Delta-like or Jagged family of ligands binds to the NOTCH receptor, which triggers a cascade of proteolytic cleavage by tumour necrosis factor- α -converting enzyme (TACE) and ysecretase, which results in the release of the intracellular domain of the NOTCH receptor. This latter enters the nucleus and activates SNAIL2 expression. EMT is also mediated by TGF β canonical (SMADdependent) and non-canonical (SMAD-independent) pathways. Upon ligand binding, the TGF β family of receptors are phosphorylated, which leads to phosphorylation of the SMAD2 and SMAD3 proteins and binding of SMAD4 to the complex. This complex is then translocated to the nucleus, which leads to activation of EMT-associated transcription factors. In addition, TGF β can activate the PI3K-AKT, RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK, p38 MAPK and JNK pathways. Different growth factors, including epidermal growth factor (EGF), can induce EMT through receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), which activates the RAS-RAF-MEK-ERK and PI3K signalling cascades that favour the mesenchymal phenotype. These pathways can be triggered at the same time and may be cross-linked, which results in activation of the EMT programme.



Figure 2. Different types of glioblastoma stem cell niches.

Characteristics of the three types of glioblastoma stem cells (GSCs) described in the literature, and the GSC niches, including hypoxic, perivascular and invasive niches. Hypoxic regions in the fast-growing tissue directly activate aerobic glycolysis, lowering the pH, and in coordination with oncogenes and tumour-suppressor genes, this affects the regulation of GSCs through hypoxia inducible transcription factors (HIFs). In the perivascular niche, GSCs interact with endothelial and other stromal cells that are responsible for stem cell maintenance. These can promote angiogenesis *via* vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) secretion. These three types of niches are to a certain extent overlapping, as hypoxic areas can be located adjacent to perivascular niches, and they share the chemokine-receptors axis. The chemokine SDF-1 α is important for recruitment and retention of GSCs in the niche, which acts through CXCR4 receptors; on the other hand, osteopontin-CD44 signalling enhances the stem cell phenotype. The invasive niche is characterized by invasive cancer cells that migrate deep into the brain parenchyma, where proteases, chemokine signalling and EMT have important roles.



Figure 3. Cathepsin B is expressed and active in glioblastoma stem cell niches.

Immunohistochemical staining for glioblastoma stem cells (GSCs) have been reported in the literature, and it has been revealed that GSCs are more abundant in certain locations, known as niches, that are different from the surrounding tumour microenvironment, as shown on Figure 2. GSCs were detected in peri-arteriolar regions of glioblastoma tissues, where they were identified by stem cell markers, such as CD133 (A) and Nestin (B) in these images. The chemotactic cytokine SDF-1 α is also present in these regions (C; white arrows). Cathepsin B protein (D) and activity were localised in peri-arteriolar GSC niche regions (E) and in GSCs *in vitro* (F; white arrows). Immunohistochemical labelling of proteins was performed with DAB as the chromogen (brown colour). Cathepsin B activity was detected as green fluorescent dots using metabolic mapping and a selective cathepsin B substrate [170]. *a:* arteriole. Scale bar: 50 μ m.

55

Credit Author Statement

All authors listed participated in writing and editing the manuscript.

Declaration of interests

 \Box The authors declare that they have no known competing financial interests or personal relationships that could have appeared to influence the work reported in this paper.

The authors declare the following financial interests/personal relationships which may be considered as potential competing interests:

All author declare that they have no financial interest and no personal relationship considered potential competing interest.

Solution

Highlights:

- Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition is an essential molecular and cellular process in carcinogenesis.
- Cancer stem cells exhibit a high level of plasticity to transition between epithelial and mesenchymal states, resulting in tumour metastasis.
- Tumour microenvironment plays an important role in regulation of EMT/MET process of tumour cells.
- Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition has emerged as a therapeutic target in cancer therapy.